Hudson Institute SEPTEMBER 2021

Pakistan's Destabilization Playbook: Khalistan Separatist Activism Within the US

STUDY GROUP ON KASHMIR AND KHALISTAN MOVEMENTS:

DR. APARNA PANDE, HUDSON INSTITUTE; DR. CHRISTINE FAIR, GEORGETOWN UNIVERSITY; SAM WESTROP, MIDDLE EAST FORUM; SETH OLDMIXON, LIBERTY SOUTH ASIA; MICHAEL RUBIN, AEI; HUSAIN HAQQANI, HUDSON INSTITUTE



Institutional affiliation is provided for identification purposes only and does not constitute institutional and or constitute institute institu

© 2021 Hudson Institute, Inc. All rights reserved.

ABOUT HUDSON INSTITUTE

Hudson Institute is a research organization promoting American leadership and global engagement for a secure, free, and prosperous future.

Founded in 1961 by strategist Herman Kahn, Hudson Institute challenges conventional thinking and helps manage strategic transitions to the future through interdisciplinary studies in defense, international relations, economics, health care, technology, culture, and law.

Hudson seeks to guide public policy makers and global leaders in government and business through a vigorous program of publications, conferences, policy briefings and recommendations.

Visit www.hudson.org for more information.

Hudson Institute 1201 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. Fourth Floor Washington, D.C. 20004

+1.202.974.2400 info@hudson.org www.hudson.org

Cover: Members of Sikhs For Justice rally against Prime Minister of India Narendra Modi in Lafayette Square across the street from the White House on February 18, 2020 in Washington, DC. (Drew Angerer/Getty Images)

Hudson Institute SEPTEMBER 2021

Pakistan's Destabilization Playbook: Khalistan Separatist Activism Within the US

STUDY GROUP ON KASHMIR AND KHALISTAN MOVEMENTS:

DR. APARNA PANDE, HUDSON INSTITUTE; DR. CHRISTINE FAIR, GEORGETOWN UNIVERSITY; SAM WESTROP, MIDDLE EAST FORUM; SETH OLDMIXON, LIBERTY SOUTH ASIA; MICHAEL RUBIN, AEI; HUSAIN HAQQANI, HUDSON INSTITUTE



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1. Introduction	7
Chapter 2. A Brief History of the Khalistan Campaign	10
Pakistan's Support of the Khalistan Movement	12
Chapter 3. Khalistan Organizations Cultivating Pakistani State Support	16
Lacking Support in Punjab, Looking for Support from China and Russia	18
The Pakistan Nexus	19
Chapter 4. Khalistan Activism in the US and the Kashmir Precedent	22
Khalistan Groups in the United States	26
A New Generation of Khalistani Activists in the United States	29
Chapter 5. Policy Recommendations	32
Endnotes	34



CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

For many years, a few members of the Sikh diaspora located in North America have supported the creation of a separate state for Sikhs—to be called Khalistan—in the Indian state of Punjab bordering Pakistan and the volatile Jammu and Kashmir region. While demands for a separate Sikh state were voiced prior to the dissolution of British India in 1947, Sikh militants did not begin employing violence to advance their demands until the late 1970s and continued to do so through the early 1990s.

In 1984, Prime Minister Indira Gandhi dispatched the Indian army to oust militants and their leaders from the holiest of Sikh shrines, the expansive Golden Temple, which they had occupied and then fortified with weapons brought from Pakistan. Gandhi's action served to galvanize Sikhs living abroad, as did the anti-Sikh pogroms that occurred following Sikh militants'

1984 assassination of Prime Minister Gandhi in retaliation for the Golden Temple military operation.

During the course of the fifteen-year campaign of violence that lasted until the early 1990s, some 25,000 were murdered, mostly Sikhs. Despite the long period of dormancy that then followed, Khalistani militancy has increased in recent years, and so curtailment of diaspora-based efforts to re-invigorate it may prevent a return to the violence of the 1980s.

Photo caption: A visitor touches the names of her brother and sister-in-law and their two children who died in the bombing of Air India Flight 182. The plane was flying on the Montreal-London-Delhi route on June 23, 1985, when a bomb destroyed the Boeing 747 over the Atlantic Ocean near Ireland. (Steve Russell/Toronto Star via Getty Images)

Such diaspora-based efforts are worrisome because Pakistan's intelligence agency, the Inter-Services Intelligence Directorate (ISI), may be assisting pro-Khalistan groups financially and organizationally. Admittedly, Pakistan and India frequently accuse one another of fomenting separatist insurgencies within each other's territory. For instance, following India's documentation of Pakistan's widely acknowledged support of terrorism and violence in India, a Pakistani dossier circulated among the permanent members of the UN Security Council accused India of supporting militant resistance to Pakistani rule in Balochistan, which borders Iran and Afghanistan.³ However, unlike Pakistan's tit-for-tat accusations of India, its organized support of terrorist activities to pursue its claims on Jammu and Kashmir have attracted international attention since at least 1992.

For years, the United States and most of the international community have condemned Pakistan's tolerance of and support for terrorism. Moreover, the US Department of State's *Country Report on Terrorism 2019: Pakistan* states, "Pakistan continued to serve as a safe haven for certain regionally focused terrorist groups. It allowed groups targeting Afghanistan, including the Afghan Taliban and affiliated HQN [Haqqani Network], as well as groups targeting India, including LeT [Lashkar-e-Tayyaba] and its affiliated front organizations, and JeM [Jaish-e-Mohammed], to operate from its territory."

In addition, the report continues, "Islamabad has yet to take decisive actions against Indian- and Afghanistan-focused militants who would undermine their operational capability." The Indian government and several independent scholars believe that militancy in Jammu and Kashmir, as well as the Khalistan movement, are parts of Pakistan's plan for "bleeding India with a thousand cuts." ⁶

According to data collected by Gallup, American public opinion regarding Pakistan has, in general, been strongly negative since 2000, with solid majorities expressing unfavorable views of it.⁷ After US Navy SEALs found and killed al-Qaeda leader Osama

bin Laden in Abbottabad in May 2011, a short distance from Pakistan's premier military academy, a plurality of Americans believed Pakistan undermined rather than aided American efforts to locate him.⁸

Despite the strength of public opposition to Pakistan, the United States government subsequently failed to develop policy measures to coerce that country into abandoning jihad as a foreign policy tool and, curiously, viewed Pakistan's support of terrorism as the problem of other countries in the region rather than of the United States. This stance, however, changed in the aftermath of the November 2008 Lashkar-e-Tayyaba attack on Indian port and megacity Mumbai, in which ten Lashkar-e-Tayyaba gunmen murdered at least 174 people and injured several hundred more.

While the vast majority of the attack's victims were Indian, it also claimed the lives of twenty-six foreign nationals, including several Americans. In the weeks and months following the attack, the extent of the support provided the attack team by Pakistan's ISI became increasingly obvious, and US policymakers increased their level of attention on Pakistan-sponsored terrorism, including holding somewhat regular Congressional hearings on these activities. In

Unfortunately, the United States government has shown no interest in violence committed by Khalistan activists, even though the Khalistan campaign's most ardent supporters are located in western countries such as the United Kingdom, Canada, and the United States. Despite urgent Indian requests to these countries to curb Khalistan separatist groups within their borders, their governments have remained unresponsive to India's appeals. ¹¹ Making these demurrals all the more puzzling is the increasing involvement over the last decade of Khalistani groups with Pakistan's so-called ¹² Kashmiri groups, who have also become the focus of American intelligence and policy communities. ¹³

Cooperation between Khalistani and Kashmiri groups has become increasingly apparent in North America, the United Kingdom, and Europe, with Kashmiri and Khalistani activists often operating in tandem. For example, in August 2020, Khalistani and Kashmiri activists staged a demonstration in New York against India,¹⁴ and, in September 2019, activists appropriated imagery and slogans from the Black Lives Matter movement, whose aim is to redress systemic and structural white supremacy in the United States.¹⁵ Joint protests of Khalistani and Kashmiri separatists have occurred in Washington DC,¹⁶ Houston,¹⁷ Ottawa,¹⁸ London,¹⁹ Brussels,²⁰ Geneva,²¹ and other European capitals.

Anticipation constitutes a crucial part of national security planning, and, therefore, investigating, within the limits prescribed by law, the activities of Khalistani groups located in North America is important to preventing a reoccurrence of the violence orchestrated by the Khalistan movement in the 1980s. During that period, along with numerous attacks on civilians, the Khalistan movement was linked to the 1985 bombing of Air India Flight 182 from Toronto to Mumbai that left 329 dead and the failed bombing of an Air India jet in Tokyo on the same day.²²

Importantly, the recent increase in Khalistan-related anti-India activism within the US is occurring as the United States and India are collaborating to confront the rise of China, especially in the Indo-Pacific. Pakistan is a critical Chinese ally and therefore has a vested interest in weakening this India-US collaboration. Campaigns such as the one for Khalistan could also serve to

distract Washington and New Delhi from strengthening the Quad (Australia, India, Japan, US) partnership. Acknowledging the strategic objective of mobilizing the peer rivals of the US and their primary South Asian ally against India, one of the most active Khalistan separatist groups in the US recently published open letters to the leaders of Russia, China, and Pakistan requesting their support.

A report by Terry Milewski for the MacDonald Laurier Institute provides details of recent Khalistani group activities in Canada. ²³ To produce a similar report for the US, Hudson Institute's South and Central Asia Program assembled a group of South Asia experts to evaluate the fifty-five interlinked Kashmiri and Khalistani groups currently operating within the United States. Connecting several of these groups to one another are shared political interests and a common modus operandi. Some, for instance, organize joint events and share lawyers, donors, and accountants. Note, however, that none of these groups has been accused of a crime in the United States, and implying or offering evidence of unlawful conduct does not fall within the purview of a research project such as this.

Rather, the following report simply examines the conduct of Khalistan and Kashmir separatist groups within the United States to investigate their support by Pakistan, their ties to militant and terrorist groups in India, and the possible detrimental effects of their activities on US foreign policy in South Asia.



CHAPTER 2. A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE KHALISTAN CAMPAIGN

The history of the Khalistan movement precedes the partition of the British Indian Empire, the Raj, in 1947. Several issues motivated the desire of some Sikhs for an independent Sikh state, variously referred to as Sikhistan or Khalistan (Land of the Khalsa [Pure]). In the late nineteenth century, many Sikhs, discomfited by Hindu reformist groups' efforts to claim them as Hindus, sought to erect religious boundaries, with some going so far as to argue for the foundation of a separate state. Because Sikhs disproportionately served in the Empire's police and military ranks, particularly during the two world wars, they expected some territorial recompense for their service.

Finally, as partition neared, it became ever more apparent that partition of the Punjab would require a significant number of

families to be uprooted and would divide Sikh sacred geography between the two new Dominions. By 1944, some Sikh leaders were calling for the formation of a Sikhistan or even an "Azad Punjab" (i.e., Free Punjab).²⁴

Demographics did not support Sikh demands for a separate country. The 1941 census of the undivided Punjab showed that Muslims comprised 53 percent of its population, Hindus 29 percent, and Sikhs only 15 percent. While the Radcliff

Photo caption: Rapid Action Force personnel along with Punjab Police personnel deployed near the Golden Temple on the eve of the 33rd Operation Blue Star anniversary at Akal Takht Sahib on June 6, 2017 in Amritsar, India. (Gurpreet Singh/Hindustan Times via Getty Images)

Commission, which was tasked with partitioning British India's Punjab and Bengal provinces, generally divided territory according to communal composition, there is evidence that it also considered proportions of Sikhs living in given areas. Notably, for instance, some Muslim-majority areas were given to India because a large minority of Sikhs resided in them.²⁵

Following independence, Sikhs demanded a state in which they were a majority, a call that the Indian government rejected, as it was an explicitly communal demand. In 1962, following a significant change in Sikh political leadership, Sikhs sought a Punjab state on the basis of language and culture, regardless of the percentage of Sikhs residing there, a secular strategy that successfully mitigated the central government's concerns regarding a communal appeal. Consequently, the Punjab Subah was created in 1966 from the larger East Punjab state, with Sikhs constituting the majority of its population.²⁶

Those wanting an independent Sikh state were not mollified by the creation of India's new Sikh-majority state, ²⁷ leading to an armed insurrection by militants seeking such an independent state. Many explanations have been advanced for what precipitated this insurrection, and a discussion of these is beyond the purview of this effort. ²⁸ While the domestic roots of Punjabi militancy are subject to debate, the ISI's role in sustaining the insurgency is widely accepted within the scholarly community. Pakistan's defeat in the 1971 war is one popularly held explanation for Pakistan's interest in prolonging the Sikh insurrection even while simultaneously supporting a vast army of mujahideen to oust the Soviets from Afghanistan.

Although Pakistan's breakup in 1971 resulted from the civil war in which East Pakistan's majority Bengali population took up arms against the oppressive state, India's intervention in this conflict was pivotal. Throughout the summer of 1971, India supported the Bengali resistance politically, diplomatically, and militarily, and, in December of that year, formally entered the war. Within two weeks, Pakistan's military

surrendered, and East Pakistan became Bangladesh.²⁹ Since then, Pakistan has sought revenge by "bleeding India with a thousand cuts."³⁰

Pakistan's strategy thereafter has been to damage India by exploiting its religious, political, and ethnic fault lines and by supporting violent, extremist, and separatist movements across various parts of India. Internal politics in the Indian state of Punjab and Pakistan's ambitions coincided to create the milieu from which the Khalistan movement later emerged.

Having failed to win seats in 1972's Punjab state assembly elections, the Shiromani Akali Dal (also referred to as Akali Dal), a center-right Sikh-centric political party founded in 1920, demanded increased autonomy for Punjab in 1973 with the Anandpur Sahib Resolution, whose twelve parts covered political, economic, socio-cultural, and religious issues. Its key demands included devolution of power to state governments and integration of all Punjabi-speaking areas that were then part of other states with Punjab. The Indian government viewed these demands as secessionist in nature and refused to accept the Resolution. ³¹

From 1978 and over the next decade, a violent secessionist movement to create Khalistan paralyzed the state of Punjab. Complex, local reasons underlay this period of unrest including an attempt at manipulation of state politics by the Indian government that spun out of control. By the early 1980s, this movement was receiving support from groups of puritanical Sikh fundamentalists including Jarnail Singh Bhindranwale, who recreated the historic Damdami Taksal—a traveling Sikh seminary founded in 1706 that was often at loggerheads with the Indian government.³²

In 1981, the Akali Dal put forth a list of forty-five policies, fourteen of which were purely religious in nature. Bhindranwale joined the Akali Dal and, in 1982, launched the Dharam Yuddh Morcha (Righteous Campaign) to implement the Anandpur

Sahib Resolution and, subsequently, the Ludhiana Resolution of 1978. A combination of religious zeal and political demands calling for increased devolution of power to the Punjab state by the Indian government, which other states within India have also sometimes sought, led to the violent Khalistan insurgency lasting from 1981 through 1995, in which thousands were attacked and killed. Bhindranwale and his supporters used violent rhetoric against people they described as "enemies of Sikhs," thereby sanctioning extrajudicial, targeted, and terrorist killings.³³

In 1983, to escape arrest, extremists occupied and fortified the Sikh shrine Akal Takht inside the revered Golden Temple and other areas of the Temple's extensive complex. These militants included Bhindranwale and two supporters—Amrik Singh Khalsa, head of the All India Sikh Students Federation, and Major General Shabeg Singh, a retired Indian military officer who had joined the Khalistan religious-political campaign. In response to the Temple's occupation, Prime Minister Indira Gandhi launched Operation Blue Star, a military operation, on June 1, 1984, to clear the Temple complex.

Operation Blue Star resulted in bloodshed and destruction within one of the holiest of Sikh shrines. While many Sikhs viewed Operation Blue Star as a desecration of the Golden Temple, few knew of the considerable damage done to the Akal Takht shrine itself and to other parts of the Temple complex by Bhindranwale and his followers during their occupation of it, including fortification with armaments, or of the murders of opponents they committed within the sacred Temple grounds.³⁴

A few months later, on October 31, two Sikh bodyguards assassinated Indira Gandhi, and large parts of the country, including the capital city of Delhi, then experienced horrific anti-Sikh riots.³⁵ The physical damage to and desecration of the Akal Takht shrine, for some of which Bhindranwale and his followers were responsible; Bhindranwale's death and the assassination of India's prime minister in revenge; and anti-Sikh violence gained

the Khalistan movement some momentum. In particular, although the anti-Sikh riots preceding the 1984 election helped elect Rajiv Gandhi prime minister with overwhelming support across India, they also strengthened the Punjab insurgency, against which the Indian government then brought an iron fist to subdue.

When the insurgency ended in 1995, the official number of deaths attributed to it was 21,000, the majority of whom were Punjabi civilians. Fourteen hundred police officers in Punjab were killed by terrorists, along with many of their family members. Insurgents also killed farmers, judges, teachers, journalists, and civil society activists who refused to support the secessionists. ³⁶ By the end of the insurrection, most identified terrorists had either been killed, were imprisoned, or had escaped to Pakistan.

In the succeeding decades, the Khalistan movement was unable to regain sympathy or support inside India. However, throughout and following the insurrection, Pakistan viewed support of this separatist movement within India as an ideal opportunity to cause trouble for its neighbor.

Pakistan's Support of the Khalistan Movement

Ethnic cleansing, forced conversion, attacks on *gurdwaras*, and migration have ensured that Sikhs, like Hindus and Christians, are currently a minuscule, endangered minority within Pakistan. Nonetheless, Pakistan has long championed the Khalistan struggle, both inside India and among the Sikh diaspora, and covertly supported both the Khalistan insurgency in Punjab and its anti-India recruitment and propaganda campaign around the world.

In his 2016 book *Pakistan's Inter-Services Intelligence Directorate: Covert Action and Internal Operations*, Owen Sirrs provides background and details concerning Pakistani intelligence services and military's support of the Khalistan insurgency and the role this support played in the unconventional warfare the Pakistani deep state employed to weaken India.³⁷

Even in the 1950s, according to Sirrs, "Pakistanis were reevaluating their UW (unconventional warfare) program" because "the strategy was not achieving its objectives, namely weakening India, forcing a referendum on Kashmir's future, and eventually incorporating all of 1947 Kashmir into Pakistan."³⁸

Consequently, an elite military unit specializing in unconventional warfare, the Special Services Group (SSG), was created in 1957. The new unit, which received training from both the CIA and US Army, was commanded by Lt. Colonel Abubakar Osman Mitha. According to Sirrs, "SSG's creation reflected a broad trend in Pakistani army thinking regarding insurgent warfare."39 In 1965, the SSG executed Operation Gibraltar, during which Pakistani infiltrators entered the Indian union territory of Jammu and Kashmir for the purpose of igniting a mass uprising among the Muslim population there. Kashmir's Muslims did not support Pakistani guerrillas at the time and the Pakistani effort led to full-fledged war along the entire India-Pakistan border. That war ended in a stalemate, damaging the US-Pakistan relationship because of a US embargo on arms. It eroded trust between India and Pakistan, as it came only a few months after the two countries had initiated dialogue to resolve their dispute over Kashmir.

The targets of the Pakistan army's unconventional warfare strategies were India's border states and union territories, whether Kashmir and Punjab or the states comprising the northeast region—all areas where insurgencies already existed, giving the Pakistan army opportunities to provide support. In India's northeast regions, China and Pakistan worked together, with China also providing arms and training to insurgents.⁴⁰

After the 1965 war, the ISI assumed the role of principal supporter of insurgencies within India, adopting a bifurcated approach, with "West Pakistan provid[ing] access to Kashmir and Punjab while East Pakistan enabled ISI and SSG to tap into active insurgencies in India's remote Assam province." ⁴¹

With respect to the Khalistan insurgency, by the late 1970s Pakistan had firmly entrenched itself among the separatists. In addition, during 1978-1980, Indian officials noticed that "Pakistan ... entertained unusually large numbers of Sikh pilgrims to Sikh shrines in Pakistan." Pakistan's military dictator, General Zia ul-Haq, had restored Sikh holy places and opened them for religious pilgrimage, hosting Sikh leaders from England and North America who visited Pakistan as pilgrims and were strong voices for the foundation of Khalistan. 43

According to Sirrs, General ul-Haq recognized the Khalistan movement as "an opportunity to weaken and distract the Indian government by miring it in yet another insurgent war 'of a thousand cuts.'" Future Director General of the ISI Hamid Gul argued that "keeping Punjab destabilized is equivalent to the Pakistan Army having an extra division at no cost to the taxpayers." As violence flared in Punjab, the Indian government accused Pakistan of arming and training the Sikh insurgents.

Then-Director General of ISI General Akhtar Abdul Rahman created a position in his agency for a brigadier whose job it was to deal with "the situation in East Punjab where Sikhs had started their freedom struggle against India." Abdul Rahman's colleagues took pride in the fact that, despite India's having deployed large numbers of security personnel, "the Sikhs were able to set the whole province on fire. They knew who to kill, where to plant a bomb and which office to target."

According to Sirrs, the ISI believed that "New Delhi had burned most of its bridges to the Sikh community" with Operation Blue Star, and thereafter its role in Punjab became readily apparent. Although some Sikh militants opposed ISI assuming any role in their fight, "ISI's position improved partly due to Sikh factionalism, which the Pakistanis deliberately aggravated in order to gain control." A major militant group, the Khalistan Commando Force (KCF), "broke up in the mid-1980s mainly over internal squabbles but also because ISI aggravated leadership rivalries in the way it distributed arms." In addition,

Sirrs notes that one KCF leader, Bhai Wassan Singh Zaffarwal, provided "overall guidance and leadership to his faction from his ISI-provided safe haven in Pakistan."⁴⁷

Most analyses of ISI's role in promoting and supporting terrorism focus on Pakistan's Islamist clients. However, Sirrs points out, ISI operations in India's East Punjab "demonstrated a certain pragmatism" that was not based on shared ideology. "From the Pakistan army's perspective," he writes, "a weakened, divided, and distracted India was most certainly a desirable objective even if this required alliances with otherwise unlikely parties such as the Khalistan extremists. As an instrument of state policy, it was ISI's mission to exploit the Sikh extremists for Pakistan's national interests."

Over the years, while Pakistan's own Sikhs have suffered,⁴⁹ Pakistan's support has enabled Sikhs in England, the United States, and Canada to mobilize a strong lobby critical of India's human rights violations.⁵⁰ Pakistan-backed terrorism in Punjab has been subject to little discussion, however. The United States, unwilling to embarrass its Cold War ally Pakistan during the 1980s, ignored proof offered by India of Pakistan's role in the Khalistan insurgency. Only after the Soviet withdrawal from Afghanistan and the termination of covert US assistance to Afghan mujahideen did the US acknowledge Pakistani support for Khalistan terrorists.

The US Department of State's *Patterns of Global Terrorism:* 1991 reports, "There were continuing credible reports throughout 1991 of official Pakistani support for Kashmiri militant groups engaged in terrorism in Indian-controlled Kashmir, as well as support to Sikh militant groups engaged in terrorism in Indian Punjab. This support allegedly includes provision of weapons and training." Reports for subsequent years also mention Pakistani support of Khalistan. Since Americans did not view the Khalistan movement as a direct threat to US security or interests, little effort was made to independently corroborate "credible reports" of Pakistani support or to act decisively against the Khalistan groups.

The Khalistan insurgency lost momentum when India fenced off part of the Punjab border with Pakistan, and the civilian Pakistani government headed by Benazir Bhutto agreed to joint patrols of the border by Indian and Pakistani troops. As a consequence of Bhutto's agreeing to these patrols, former ISI head Lt. Gen. Hamid Gul accused Benazir Bhutto of "revealing to India the identities of Sikh insurgents with links to Pakistani intelligence." As Husain Haqqani observes, "This charge was unusual as Pakistan had always denied any role in the Sikh insurgency."

Pakistan's policy regarding Sikh shrines within that country demonstrates the relationship between Pakistan's intelligence service, the ISI, and the Khalistan movement. The Pakistani organization that manages these shrines, the Evacuee Trust Property Board (ETPB), is often headed by recently retired military or intelligence officers. For example, Lt. General Javed Nasir, who was removed as director general of the ISI in May 1993 because of US pressure overhis role in supporting terrorist networks worldwide, ⁵⁴ was appointed head of ETPB after retiring and was involved in several scandals thereafter. ⁵⁵ The former intelligence chief, a self-professed Islamist fundamentalist, was subsequently appointed chair of the Sikh Gurdwara Prabandhak Committee, Pakistan's official organization for promoting the Sikh religion. ⁵⁶

Pakistan refused to hand General Nasir over to The Hague International Tribunal for his role in the Bosnian War in 2011,⁵⁷ acknowledging that his role in supporting Islamist and Khalistan terrorists had official sanction. In 2019, when the civilian government appointed a civilian to be ETPB chair, former ISI officer Major Gen. Muhammad Saad Khattak went to court to have himself appointed instead, claiming that he was better suited to fill the position, as his profile better matched those of others who had held it previously.⁵⁸ To this day, the organization supervising the Sikh shrines in Pakistan continues to include recently retired military officers.

The Pakistan Sikh Gurudwara Prabandhak Committee (PSGPC) once headed by General Nasir is also maintaining close relations

with Pakistan's secret service, and its secretary, Gopal Singh Chawla, considered a key recruiter for the Khalistan insurgency, is tied to the ISI.⁵⁹ Chawla has close ties with Hafiz Muhammad Saeed, founder of the banned jihadi terrorist group Lashkar-e-Taiba, which was responsible for the November 2008 terrorist attacks in Mumbai, among other atrocities.

Chawla has often been photographed with Saeed, whom he has described as his "ideal person," and some of their photographs have appeared in Pakistani media. In 2018, India demanded that Chawla be removed from his PSGPC position because he interfered with Indian officials attempting to meet Indian pilgrims following the opening of the Kartarpur corridor. 61

Still, India cooperated in the opening of the Kartarpur corridor between Indian and Pakistani Punjab to allow Sikh pilgrims to visit some of their holiest shrines located across the border. Nonetheless, India's security establishment harbors concerns that the Pakistani deep state will use this corridor to send terrorists into Indian Punjab disguised as pilgrims. Pakistan's desire to revive the Khalistan insurgency and its alleged support of illicit drug trafficking and cross-border money laundering, constitute major security concerns for India. 62

In addition, Pakistan makes little effort to distance itself from the Khalistan movement. An official video released by the government of Pakistan celebrating the opening of the Kartarpur corridor featured pictures of three Khalistani separatist leaders, deemed terrorists by India, who were killed by Indian forces during Operation Blue Star: Jarnail Singh Bhindranwale, Amrik Singh Khalsa, and Shabeg Singh.⁶³

Despite India's objections, Gopal Singh Chawla attended the Kartarpur opening ceremony. In the speech he gave for the occasion, he declared that the "Khalistan movement was never suppressed, will never be suppressed. Inshallah, Khalistan will be free, and Kashmir will be free too." ⁶⁴ Use of the term "Inshallah" (God willing) by Chawla, ostensibly a devout Sikh, and his connection of the "freedom" movements of Khalistan and Kashmir were obvious plays on sentiment in predominantly Muslim Pakistan.

Chawla's rhetoric on an occasion that CNN termed a "historic moment" of India-Pakistan reconciliation⁶⁵ underscored the primary reason for India's continuing concern regarding Khalistan. "If you don't understand then you will be destroyed, you Indians," Chawla roared. "Your stories won't be told in history. If India dares to attack Pakistan, the entire Sikh community will join the Pakistan Army." Continuing his threats, he stated, "The Sikh community will fight you and we will throw this pen down and pick up the gun. After that, we will teach you such a lesson that you will be wiped out. If you dare to look at Pakistan with a twisted eye, we will gouge your eyes out. Pakistan zindabad, Pakistan zindabad ["victory for Pakistan, victory for Pakistan"]."⁶⁶



CHAPTER 3. KHALISTAN ORGANIZATIONS CULTIVATING PAKISTANI STATE SUPPORT

In July 2020 under provisions of the Unlawful Activities Prevention Act, the Indian Ministry of Home Affairs banned the organization Sikhs for Justice (SFJ) and designated nine individuals linked to separatist Khalistani organizations as terrorists, including four based in Pakistan.⁶⁷

Several of these individuals belong to known terrorist organizations: Wadhawa Singh Babbar, chief of Babbar Khalsa International; Lakhbir Singh, who heads the International Sikh Youth Federation; Ranjeet Singh, chief of the Khalistan Zindabad Force; and Paramjit Singh, leader of the Khalistan Commando Force. Each of these four groups has been implicated in specific acts of terror in India while their designated leaders are reportedly based in Pakistan.⁶⁸

Six months later, India's National Investigation Agency filed terrorism-related charges against ten people, including SFJ leader Gurpatwant Singh Pannun, before a special court in Mohali, Punjab. Pannun and others were alleged to have been involved in a series of acts of violence, including arson in Punjab, during the year 2017–18. They were also charged with "carrying out of propaganda activities both online and on ground" in support of Sikhs for Justice and Referendum 2020, an unofficial poll of Sikhs living outside India that Khalistan

Photo caption: Khalistan flag seen as Canadian Pro-Khalistan Sikhs protest against the Indian government and call for a separate Sikh state called Khalistan in Malton, Ontario, Canada, on May 05, 2013. (Creative Touch Imaging Ltd./NurPhoto via Getty Images)

advocates were planning to conduct in 2020 to show support for Khalistan's independence. Referendum 2020 was thwarted by the COVID-19 pandemic but would have been nothing more than a propaganda exercise even if it had gone through on time. In response to the Indian government's actions, Sikhs for Justice argued that India's charges relating to propaganda were an attempt by the Indian government to deny Pannun and his associates freedom of speech.

But Indian authorities insisted that several acts of violence had been committed by "a gang of radicalized Sikh youth under the direction [of] and [with] financial assistance from SFJ handlers located abroad as part of an organized conspiracy by the accused for launching a concerted secessionist campaign for creation of Khalistan." ⁷⁰

The National Investigation Agency's action against Pannun and others connected to Sikhs for Justice came soon after Pannun made public a letter he had written to Pakistan Prime Minister Imran Khan.⁷¹ The letter was titled "December 16 'Fall of Dhaka' is the past, 'Fall of Delhi' is inevitable," a reference to the December 16, 1971, surrender of the Pakistan army in Dhaka that resulted in the creation of Bangladesh in erstwhile East Pakistan. The Pakistani surrender was preceded by civil war in East Pakistan, during which India supported the resistance of Pakistan's Bengali population to atrocities committed by Pakistan's military that independent scholars have described as attempted genocide.

Pannun's letter to Imran Khan stated that "Pakistan should be prepared to recognize new neighbor Khalistan." The language of the letter, including phrases such as "fall of Dhaka" and "fall of Delhi," seemed to have been taken straight out of Pakistan's textbooks and the rhetoric used by Pakistani military and intelligence personnel in propaganda directed against India.

Moreover, as the letter made it clear, supporters of Khalistan sought to create circumstances similar to those faced by

Pakistan in that country's then-eastern wing following the 1970 elections, in which the population of East Bengal had voted overwhelmingly for autonomy. However, the party for which they had voted was banned following the election, and its supporters subjected to repression. Although the Khalistanis have neither contested nor won an election in Indian Punjab, they want Pakistan's military to provide them support similar to that the Indian military provided the people of Bangladesh in their struggle for freedom.

The letter makes for interesting reading and sheds light on the Khalistan movement's strategy. "Today, the growing discontent of the Sikhs living under Indian occupation is clearly demonstrated in the ongoing protests against Modi government's anti-farmer bills," it states. "More than ever before in the 70 years of India, Sikh people are ready to liberate Punjab from Indian occupation through democratic means of referendum." ⁷³

Although Pannun's letter claims that the referendum to which he alludes would "give the Sikhs living anywhere in the world and indigenous people of all faiths living in Punjab [the opportunity] to express their will on the question of future association of Punjab with India," it had no legal standing. Still, he insists, "Voting in the non-governmental Punjab independence referendum" is "well grounded in international laws, treaties, and [the] UN Charter and principles of democracy."

According to the plan outlined in the letter, the referendum was to be the catalyst for the secession of India's Punjab state just as the 1970 general election, which had been legally conducted by Pakistan's Election Commission, was for the separation of East Pakistan and Bangladesh.

In this letter, Pannun makes SFJ's support for increased Pakistani hostility toward India clear, suggesting that the time for an assault on Delhi was "fast approaching." He continues, "Pakistan should be prepared to recognize Khalistan—compris[ed] of the areas of Punjab currently occupied by

India—as a new neighbor." ⁷⁴ Repeating a fantasy often found in the publications of Pakistan's extremist jihadi groups, he states, "For the people of Pakistan, it is important to realize the establishment of Khalistan will be the harbinger to the liberation of Jammu and Kashmir from India's illegal occupation."

It is important to note that some maps of Khalistan used by its advocates include not just areas of present-day India but also large parts of present-day Pakistan that are religiously important to Sikhs. The most capacious territorial claims are based upon the geographical expanse of the Sikh kingdom of Maharaja Ranjit Singh (1801-1839). At its peak, his empire extended into the Khyber Pass in the west and up to western Tibet in the east, and from Mithankot (in Pakistan's southern Punjab) in the south to the princely state of Jammu and Kashmir in the north.⁷⁵

While Sikhism recognizes five sacred seats of authority (panj takht), all located in today's India, a more expansive map of Sikh sacred geography includes numerous historical *gurdwaras* in Pakistan, the most notable of which include Nankana Sahab, the birthplace of Sikh founder Guru Nanak, and Dera Sahib in Lahore, the seat of Singh's kingdom.⁷⁶

Curiously, Khalistan groups seeking to curry favor with and funding from Pakistan limit their territorial demands to India's state of Punjab. For example, while speaking of referendum for the creation of Khalistan, Sikhs for Justice limits its ambition only to Indian territory, a clear indication of its desire for continued Pakistan backing. This is akin to those who champion the cause of Kashmir internationally, and demand a plebiscite in Indian Kashmir but say nothing about the parts of Kashmir currently controlled by Pakistan.

Sikhs for Justice is not alone in limiting their territorial demands to India only. Kanwarpal Singh, spokesperson of the Amritsar-based Dal Khalsa, also demurs from including in Khalistan such historically important *gurdwaras* located in Pakistan as Nankana Sahab and Dera Sahab. "We can't change what has happened

in the past; it's not practical to demand the inclusion of those areas outside the current state boundaries,"⁷⁷ he stated.

Were Khalistani proponents such as Pannun and Sikhs for Justice championing a Sikh state based upon Sikh theology and religio-political history, they would presumably not be so easily able to exclude historically important shrines located in Pakistan. Some scholars therefore postulate that they are intended not only to avoid antagonizing the Pakistani state but also to cultivate its political, diplomatic, and financial support.⁷⁸

Lacking Support in Punjab, Looking for Support from China and Russia

The Khalistan campaign has little support in the Indian state of Punjab, whose citizens voted the Indian National Congress party into power in the 2017 state elections with a 77 percent voter turnout. In 2012, an alliance of the Bharatiya Janata Party and the Punjab-based Shiromani Akali Dal won the state's elections, whereas the Indian National Congress did so in 2007. In none of these state elections were separatist sentiments voiced or even acknowledged, and there is little evidence of present-day support for Sikhs for Justice, Pannun, or the Khalistan movement within India.

According to an investigative report by *The Caravan*, "The only support that Pannun enjoyed was from the youth who left Punjab after [violence in] 1984 and took asylum in UK, USA, Canada or Europe." Moreover, what little support Sikhs for Justice has manifested in Punjab seems to be attributable to "the organization's financial incentives."

In August 2020, Sikhs for Justice began circulating messages and posters offering US \$2,500 for raising the Khalistani flag and \$5,000 for performing the *ardas* [Sikh daily prayer] for Khalistan at the Akal Takht (in Amritsar's Golden Temple). The SFJ's offers found a few takers, with two persons arrested in Morga for raising the Khalistani flag and one in Amritsar for performing an *ardas* for Khalistan at the Golden Temple.⁸¹

Pannun, however, seems unfazed by his lack of support among Sikhs in Punjab and continues to seek external support, focusing on countries that possibly have an issue with India. On June 17, 2020, he sent a letter to Chinese President Xi Jinping titled "Pro Khalistan Sikhs condemn Modi government's violent aggression against China." This letter not only attempted to identify China as "the enemy of my enemy" and so as "my friend" but was part of a concerted effort to secure assistance in mobilizing an insurgency against India. These same motivations led to Pannun's sending similar letters to Pakistan's Prime Minister Imran Khan and Russian President Vladimir Putin.83

"We are writing to condemn India's violent aggression causing death of several soldiers of China at the Ladakh border," the letter to Xi states. "We empathize with the people of China as we are a people whose land and resources are under Indian occupation and who have faced genocide at the hands of the Indian state since 1947." ⁸⁴ In addition, the letter acknowledged possibly covert Chinese support for Khalistan propagandists.

"We also want to take this opportunity to thank the people of China for [the] over whelming [sic] encouraging and supporting response they have given to SFJ's recent call for non-Governmental Referendum 2020 for the secession of Punjab from India," Pannun writes in his letter to Xi, adding that he and his colleagues "look forward" to being "in Beijing in August of this year during our tour of several countries of Europe and Asia in connection with Voter Registration for [the] Punjab Independence Referendum."

There is no indication that China supported SFJ's unofficial referendum, particularly given that China's communist autocratic system does not countenance even fake expressions of democracy. Moreover, Pannun and his US-based colleagues could not have travelled to China in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

In a similar letter dated July 6, 2020, Pannun wrote to Russian President Vladimir Putin seeking support for the Khalistan

Referendum 2020. Before seeking Russia's backing, it congratulated Putin for winning the right to run for president for two additional six-year terms due to the July 1 referendum on constitutional amendments.

"Since Russia has demonstrated unprecedented adherence to the process of Referendum in Crimea," Pannun wrote, "we urge the Government of Russia to take up the issue of [the] Punjab Independence Referendum before the UN Security Council to impress upon India that expressing an opinion through referendum is the fundamental right of the people of Punjab."85

Given that Pannun is an American citizen, his seeking support from Xi Jinping and Putin, both of whom are viewed as hostile to the United States, is surprising. These actions can be understood only in the context of the Khalistani-Pakistan nexus. China is Pakistan's closest ally, and the relationship between Russia and Pakistan has strengthened in recent years, with the two conducting joint military exercises and counter-terrorism training, which never occurred during the Cold War.⁸⁶

The Pakistan Nexus

According to an investigation conducted by the *Economic Times* in 2018, the Sikhs for Justice website was being managed out of Karachi, Pakistan. The report claims that www.sikhsforjustice.org and **www.2020refendum.org** (now defunct) were then linked to Karachi-based https://snip.pk (also apparently no longer in use). In addition, the *Times* investigation found websites of the movement's leaders, including Pannun, to also be linked to this Pakistan-based site.⁸⁷ The almost sixty additional web domains then being leased by Pannun and his law firm included sikhssoldiers4khalistan.com and, interestingly, freebengal.us.⁸⁸

Apparently, while "leaders demanding Khalistan have always denied their Pakistan-links, they failed to cover these links online," the *Economic Times* report continues. In addition, the article reports that the Sikhs for Justice websites were then being

managed not only from Pakistan but were also being hosted on the same virtual private server, "with their domains being hosted through the same Florida-based website, Mechanicslien.org." Also according to the *Times* article, Pakistani national Amir Siddique, "who claim[ed] to be a Karachi-based freelance web developer," was involved with the SFJ websites. Reportedly, he was also "chief technical officer at Android Web Productions, a company with offices in Florida and Karachi," and was the developer of the snip.pk website.⁸⁹

Denials notwithstanding, the Sikhs for Justice leadership has made little effort to conceal its other ties with Pakistan. For instance, in 2018, Pannun announced the establishment of a "permanent office of SFJ" in Lahore, Pakistan, "to coordinate the registration of referendum votes," which would be an "information center for the Sikhs." ⁹⁰ This statement, made on a day when 3,000 Indian devotees reached Sikh holy sites in Pakistan through the Kartarpur corridor, increased Indian suspicions regarding Pakistan's intentions in opening the corridor. Although Pakistan publicized this as a gesture of goodwill toward India, it more likely represented an effort to recruit uncommitted Sikhs to support Khalistan secessionism.

In 2019, Islamist and Pakistani activists—including Pakistani agent⁹¹ Ghulam Nabi Fai, activists of Jamaat-e-Islami and officials belonging to Imran Khan's political party—organized a series of protests in Houston during the visit of Indian Prime Minister Narendra Modi.⁹² One demonstration featured a "Go Back Modi truck rally" organized by Sikhs for Justice's Pannun; the otherwise mostly defunct Sikh Association of America and its head, Hardam Singh Azad; and Ghazala Habib, representative of the terror-linked Kashmiri Hurriyat political alliance and head of Friends of Kashmir, an international anti-Indian organization openly backed by Islamabad. The truck rally advertised itself as a "call by Pro Khalistan Sikhs & Organizations Supporting People of Kashmir."⁹³

Subsequently, in August 2020, Friends of Kashmir organized a series of webinars in cooperation with the Pakistani embassy in

Washington, DC, and its consulate in Houston. One such webinar advertised a variety of radical Islamist and Pakistani speakers, including Ghazala Habib and Otar Singh Pannu, another Sikhs for Justice representative. They were joined by the president of Pakistani's Azad Kashmir, the Pakistani ambassador, and an array of Pakistani and American politicians.⁹⁴

Other American Kashmiri organizations have also apparently formed Khalistani partnerships. Stand With Kashmir (SWK), for instance, counts dozens of prominent academics among its staff and speakers, and has been deemed "one of the most influential voices in America on the subject of Kashmir." SWK is an open supporter of a number of jihadist activists, including Islamist activist Asiya Andrabi, founder of the Pakistan-aligned, Kashmiri jihadist outfit, Dukhtaran-e-Millat. Stand With Kashmir appears to be supported by Sikh progressivist groups such as Ruthless Collective, a British-Canadian Sikh organization that also fundraises for Khalsa Aid, a prominent Khalistani charity accused by Indian law enforcement of ties with violent groups.

In December 2019, SWK worked with the radical Sikh group Organization for Minorities of India (OFMI) and the Indian American Muslim Council (IAMC) to organize a protest against India's controversial Citizenship Amendment Act. ¹⁰¹ According to an investigative article published in the *East Bay Express*, OFMI's founder is the prominent Khalistani activist Bhajan Singh Bhinder, who was once the subject of a federal investigation after allegedly attempting to "negotiate the purchase of assault weapons and shoulder-fired missiles for the Free Khalistan movement." ¹⁰² The IAMC is openly tied to the South Asian Islamist movement Jamaat-e-Islami and has been widely accused by counter-extremism analysts of links to the Students Islamic Movement of India, which India designates a terrorist organization. ¹⁰³

Evidence of Pakistan's links to US-based Khalistan activities has sometimes emerged in US courts. In December 2006, a federal jury in Brooklyn, New York, convicted Khalid Awan, a

Pakistani national, of providing money and financial services to the Khalistan Commando Force, "a terrorist organization responsible for thousands of deaths in India since its founding in 1986."¹⁰⁴

According to the US Department of Justice, "KCF was formed in 1986 and is comprised of Sikh militants who seek to establish a separate Sikh state in the Punjab region of India. The organization has engaged in numerous assassinations of prominent Indian government officials—including the murder of Chief Minister Beant Singh of Punjab in 1995—and hundreds of bombings, acts of sabotage, and kidnappings." 105

Awan's conviction resulted from a joint investigation by the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of New York and the FBI's Joint Terrorism Task Force that began in 2003. An inmate

at the Metropolitan Detention Center in Brooklyn, where Awan was imprisoned on federal credit card fraud charges, reported that Awan had boasted of his relationship with Paramiit Singh Panjwar, the leader of KCF. Panjwar was, at that time, one of India's ten most wanted fugitives. According to a US Department of Justice statement, the US government's evidence during the trial included recordings of Awan's prison telephone calls to Panjwar in Pakistan during which he introduced the inmate to Panjwar as a potential recruit for the KCF. The US government also shared with the court "statements by Awan admitting that he sent hundreds of thousands of dollars to KCF, testimony by two New York-area fundraisers for the KCF who stated that they delivered money to Awan's residence in Garden City, and testimony by the assistant inspector general of the [Indian] Punjab Police Intelligence Division that the KCF was responsible for the deaths of thousands of innocent victims in India."106



CHAPTER 4. KHALISTAN ACTIVISM IN THE US AND THE KASHMIR PRECEDENT

Sikhs have been living in the United States for well over 125 years. Although the US Census included Sikhs in the 2020 census, those results have not been released. Absent official census results, estimates of the American Sikh population vary widely, ranging between 200,000 and 700,000.

According to the only national survey of Sikhs living in the United States, over half (58.5 percent) are immigrants, 35.9 percent are first generation, and 5.7 percent are second generation or more. Most Sikhs living in the US are Asian, but, given Sikhism's long-term presence here, it has gained many converts from a variety of racial backgrounds. A solid majority regularly attend *gurdwaras* at least once a month. The vast majority of Sikhs in the United States are not registered to vote in US elections;

however, those who were registered voted overwhelmingly in the 2016 and 2020 US elections. 108

Sikhs located in the United States remain engaged with political matters in the Punjab, with much of their engagement occurring through *gurdwaras* and through the myriad of Sikh social and political organizations that enable them to maintain contact with each other as well as with others elsewhere in the diaspora and in the Punjab itself.¹⁰⁹ After the Indian army's

Photo caption: Members of various hardline Sikh organizations raised pro-Khalistan slogans during the 37th anniversary of Operation Blue Star at the Golden Temple, on June 6, 2021 in Amritsar, India. (Sameer Sehgal/Hindustan Times via Getty Images)

Golden Temple operation and in light of the Sikh militants' campaign of violence, many Sikhs emigrated to obtain increased security.

Many Sikhs in the United States are politically aware of and, to some degree, remain engaged in events occurring in India. The numbers of Sikhs in the United States who support the notion of Khalistan or who support the use of violence to attain it are unknown, 110 but groups agitating for Khalistan have the potential to cause problems, including the following:

- disrupt or damage India-US relations
- become a vehicle for recruitment of terrorists and extremist agitators
- violate American laws by acting on behalf of Pakistan while pretending to act independently

Perhaps the most worrisome aspect of US-based Khalistan agitation is the likelihood that Pakistan's intelligence agency is responsible to a considerable degree. In 2011, the FBI identified the Kashmir American Council and its head, Ghulam Nabi Fai, as tied to "a decades-long scheme to conceal the transfer of at least \$3.5 million from the government of Pakistan to fund his lobbying efforts in America related to Kashmir."111 Fai had long partnered with Khalistani organizations and Sikh activists. In 1992, for example, he and a number of Khalistani supporters attended the Democratic Party convention to lobby for Kashmiri and Sikh secessionism. 112 In 2000 Indian media reported that Fai and Paramjit Singh Ajrawat, founder of the Anti-Defamation Sikh Council for Khalistan, together visited a gurdwara in Silver Spring, Maryland, where they called for the US and the UN to increase their efforts to obtain a peaceful solution to the "liberation of the Sikh homeland, Khalistan and the 52-year-old Kashmir conflict."113

The involvement of Fai and Kashmir-related groups in the US-based Khalistan milieu should be taken seriously. Syed Ghulam Nabi Fai, a US citizen and director of the Kashmiri American Council (KAC), was arrested and pleaded guilty to criminal

counts of conspiracy to conceal material facts, impede the IRS in the collection of revenue, and impede the administration of tax laws.¹¹⁴

For years, the KAC "held itself out to be run by Kashmiris, financed by Americans and dedicated to raising the level of knowledge in the United States about the struggle of the Kashmiri people for self-determination. But according to court documents, the KAC was secretly funded by officials employed by the government of Pakistan, including the Inter-Services Intelligence Directorate."¹¹⁵

The Kashmir American Council presented itself as an advocate for Kashmiris' human rights, working to create awareness of and support for the Kashmiri people's struggles to attain these rights. To further these efforts over the years, KAC and Fai employed a major Washington-area lobbyist, contributed to the campaigns of certain Congress members, organized rallies and conferences against India, and attempted to influence US policy on South Asia, all without acknowledging that Pakistan and its intelligence service were funding their efforts.¹¹⁶

According to the US Department of Justice, Fai "repeatedly submitted annual KAC strategy reports and budgetary requirements to Pakistani government officials for approval. For instance, in 2009, Fai sent the ISI a document entitled 'Plan of Action of KAC/Kashmir Centre, Washington, DC, for the Fiscal Year 2010,' which itemized KAC's 2010 budget request of \$658,000 and listed Fai's plans to secure US congressional support for US action in support of Kashmiri self-determination." ¹¹⁷

The Department of Justice stated that Fai also "accepted the transfer of such money to the KAC from the ISI and the government of Pakistan through his co-defendant Zaheer Ahmad and middlemen (straw donors), who received reimbursement from Ahmad for their purported 'donations' to the KAC." Fai failed to inform the IRS that these straw donors were being reimbursed by Ahmad "using funds received"

from officials employed by the ISI and the government of Pakistan."118

Although Fai had most likely been receiving funding from Pakistan's ISI since KAC's 1992 inception, he was investigated and indicted only after the deterioration in US-Pakistan relations in the aftermath of the 2011 raid in which Osama bin Laden was killed.

Kashmiri and Khalistani activists have benefited from having the same friends in high places. In 2011 following the discovery that Pakistan's ISI was bankrolling Fai's KAC, the *New York Times* reported that three members of the US House—Joe Pitts, Dan Burton, and Dennis J. Kucinich—had been working closely with Fai and his group. Rep. Burton, the *Times* reported, had taken a particularly "aggressive role in promoting the agenda pushed by Mr. Fai." In 1997, the *Washington Post* noted that "nearly a quarter of the individual donations to Burton's 1996 campaign came from the Sikh and Kashmiri communities in the United States." Following Fai's arrest in 2011, it emerged that Burton, who retired in 2013, had received significant sums of money from Fai himself. Burton has consistently denied any knowledge that Fai's group was "linked to any foreign intelligence operation."

However, particularly interesting but scarcely discussed, Burton also appeared to be a leading Congressional advocate for the Khalistani cause, sponsoring "many resolutions in Congress and [castigating] India for its 'profound lack of respect for Sikh life and culture.'" In 2004, Burton invited Fai and Gurmit Singh Aulakh, president of the Council of Khalistan, to address the Committee on Government Reform on the issue of alleged Indian brutality. 124

Burton is not the only member of the US Congress to openly advocate for both the Khalistani and Kashmiri causes. In 1998, Rep. Edolphus Towns, who represented New York from 1983 to 2013, openly advocated for Aulakh's nomination for the Nobel

Peace Prize, lauding his efforts to "expose the oppression of Sikhs." Describing Aulakh, Towns stated, "Recently he brought to the attention of the Congress the rapes of four nuns in Madhya Pradesh. He has helped to expose the Indian government's extrajudicial killings of Christians, Muslims, Dalits, Assamese, Manipuris, and others. Wherever in South Asia oppression rears its ugly head, Dr. Aulakh has been there to expose it." 125

During the same speech, Towns argued that the US Congress should "also support the same right for all other people, notably the people of Kashmir." Prior to his departure in 2013, Rep. Towns made several such appeals on behalf of Sikhs and Kashmiris, even arguing that India should be declared a terrorist state. Dana Rohrabacher, a Republican who represented California in the House of Representatives from 1989–2019, reportedly stated on the floor of Congress on August 2, 1999, "For the people in Kashmir and Punjab and Jammu, India might as well be Nazi Germany."

Other members of the US Congress who have jointly called for the liberation of Sikhs and Kashmiris include Rep. Philip M. Crane (Republican from Illinois, 1969–2005); 128 Rep. John T. Doolittle (Republican from California, 1991–2009); 129 Rep. Roscoe Bartlett (Republican from Maryland, 1993–2013); 130 Rep. Lincoln Diaz-Balart (Republican from Florida, 1986–2011); 131 Rep. Wally Herger (Republican from California, 1987–2013); 132 and Rep. Cynthia McKinney (Democrat from Georgia, 1993–2003). 133 Many others in Congress regularly promote the Khalistani cause while not also advancing the agenda of Kashmiri separatists. 134

Following Fai's release from jail, he has remained an active partner of radical fellow travellers, including Sikh activists, and continues to write regularly about the ostensible persecution of Sikhs in India, publishing across a variety of Pakistani media. ¹³⁵ In addition, since at least 2016, Fai has led annual protests made up of Sikh, Islamist, and Kashmiri activists outside the United Nations building in New York. ¹³⁶

At the 2017 protest, Fai and his new organization, the World Kashmiri Awareness Forum, were supported by Sikh activists, Pakistani regime officials, and such Kashmiri separatists as Syed Ali Geelani, who once served as "head of jihad" for the Kashmiri branch of South Asia's violent Islamist movement Jamaate-Islami. At the 2019 protest, one newspaper reported that joining Fai was "a prominent Sikh leader, Sardar Amarjit Singh," who "also voiced support for the cause of Kashmir and reaffirmed his call for the establishment of Khalistan." 138

In July 2021, Singh and other Khalistani activists joined Fai again—filmed by a camera crew from television channel TV84 (a project of various Khalistani activists, including activists from the Khalistan Affairs Center and Sikhs for Justice)¹³⁹—to honor "Kashmir Martyrs Day." Following a rabble-rousing speech, Singh led the crowd in chants of "India out of Kashmir. India out of Khalistan."¹⁴⁰

Ten years ago, Fai had the support of a plethora of Khalistani activist organizations located across the United States, including the Anti-Defamation Sikh Council for Khalistan, or Council of Khalistan, based in Washington, DC.¹⁴¹ However, many of the organizations who supported him now are defunct, ¹⁴² and in their place in the US has risen an array of funded organizations dedicated solely and overtly to the Khalistani cause. Based upon the number of its active registered corporations, ¹⁴³ its social media activity, the almost sixty registered website domains it has leased, ¹⁴⁴ and multiple registered 501(c)s for its various subsidiaries, ¹⁴⁵ New York-based Sikhs for Justice is one of the most prominent and active of these.

The operating strategy of activist organizations such as Sikhs for Justice is similar to that of the KAC and, although there is currently no evidence of Pakistani funding of US-based Khalistan groups, examination of their activities and funding sources by US law enforcement would be prudent.

Among US pro-Khalistan groups, Sikhs for Justice stands out for its brazenness in openly seeking the support of China,

Russia, and Pakistan for its separatist cause. Founded in 2007 by Pannun, a US citizen and immigration attorney, the group was banned in 2019 by the Indian government, which accused SFJ of having terrorist connections.

The group has attracted media attention by filing lawsuits against Indian politicians from various political parties in courts throughout the United States. Although American judges have, so far, dismissed these suits, they nonetheless garner media coverage for Sikhs for Justice, thereby causing it to appear relevant within the American mainstream. For example, in 2011, SFJ filed a class-action lawsuit in a US court against the Indian National Congress and one of its leaders, former Minister Kamal Nath, for "conspiring [in], aiding, and abetting" the 1984 anti-Sikh riots in Delhi. The United States District Court for the Southern District of New York issued summonses in March 2011, but three years later the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit dismissed the case. 147

In 2013, Sikhs for Justice filed a petition against President of the Indian National Congress Sonia Gandhi in connection with the 1984 riots, but the case was dismissed in 2014. In 2015, SFJ petitioned a New York court to challenge the US government's issuance of a diplomatic visa to Indian Prime Minister Narendra Modi, but the court rejected this petition.

In 2020, Sikhs for Justice supported a class-action lawsuit filed by a Houston group called the Kashmir Khalistan Referendum Front (KKRF) against Prime Minister Modi and several top Indian officials. Founded in September 2019, KKRF, whose directors are Ghazala Khan, Pannun, and Muhammad Yunus, ran a social media campaign via its website, Twitter account, Facebook page, and Instagram profile championing "Greater Khalistan." Its lawsuit claimed damages for alleged extrajudicial killings, wrongful death, battery, emotional distress, and crimes against humanity in Jammu and Kashmir. ¹⁴⁹

Although all of these lawsuits were dismissed, each of the court filings generated negative news stories and diverted American

and Indian officials from other matters, possibly one of SFJ's objectives in pursuing these cases.

For several years, Sikhs for Justice spearheaded the Referendum 2020 campaign, as supporters of the Sri Lankan terrorist group, Liberation Tigers for Tamil Eelam (LTTE), had earlier orchestrated referenda on an independent state of Tamil Eelam. The purpose of the pro-Tamil Eelam referenda conducted in Norway, France, Canada, Switzerland, Germany, Netherlands, and the United Kingdom between 2009 and 2010¹⁵⁰ was to show support by the Tamil diaspora for LTTE's plan for a separate Tamil state in Sri Lanka, Tamil Eelam. In carrying out these referenda, LTTE supporters enrolled "independent" NGOs to conduct votes among Tamils living in the various European countries, and the results of these referenda showed more than 99 percent of "voters" supporting Tamil independence. ¹⁵¹

The Sikhs for Justice referendum emulated the LTTE model, defining the Punjab Referendum 2020 as a campaign to "liberate" Punjab, which was currently being "occupied" by India. The stated aim of the exercise was to "gauge what the 'Punjabi people' [thought] about re-establishing Punjab as a nation state" and to "give the people of Punjab the privilege to decide their future political status." Sikhs for Justice stated, "Once the consensus around the question of independence is established, we will present its case to the United Nation and other international bodies."

In December 2020, India's National Investigation Agency filed a charge sheet against Sikhs for Justice for "hatching an organized conspiracy to further its Khalistan cause" by instigating Sikh personnel enlisted in the Indian army to mutiny. As part of this attempt, Sikhs for Justice launched a social media and internet campaign including videos and flyers that stated, "Sikh Soldiers: Leave Indian Army, Save your Families." 153

Khalistan Groups in the United States

The busiest time for the Khalistani movement in the United States was the decades following the 1984 violence in India,

during which dozens of organizations were established across Europe and North America. Most notably, in July 1984, a conference of Sikh diaspora from Europe and North America was held in New York's Madison Square Garden; its attendees demanded Khalistan independence and founded an entity called the World Sikh Organization (WSO). To lobby the US government and media and so further demands related to Khalistan, still another entity, the International Sikh Organization, was founded by Dr. Gurmeet Singh Aulakh, who claimed to be the appointed president of Khalistan. Aulakh also established the Council of Khalistan, which works to champion the cause of Khalistan across the Western world. ¹⁵⁴

Branches of Indian Sikh nationalist organizations—including SADA USA, the overseas branch of the Shiromani Akali Dal (Amritsar) political party—were also established in the United States. The SADA USA's website refers to the party as a key part of the Khalistan movement, stating that it is "involved in lobbying with US House of Representatives, US Senate, US Department of State and the United Nations to bring the vision of an Independent Sikh nation, in the form of Khalistan, into reality." 155

Some Sikh radical groups are still active in the New York area and in California. In addition to disseminating anti-India propaganda, the focus of these organizations is advocating the Khalistan cause, and to secure support they target local politicians, US think tanks, and human rights activists. Khalistan activists also use Sikh places of worship, *gurdwaras*, to attract followers, organizing special events to commemorate the "martyrdom" of terrorists in Punjab. They also commemorate Operation Blue Star and the 1984 anti-Sikh riots to proselytize younger Sikhs into believing that there is a religious conflict between Sikhs and other Indians.

A number of pro-Khalistan groups have operated in the United States, Canada, and Europe, and most have neither advocated violence nor been found to have any relationship with the violent insurgents in Punjab. But, given the history of terrorism in the

name of Khalistan, examining the activities of all Khalistan advocates is important. A number of ostensibly peaceful organizations operating in the West, including charities, have been found to be funnelling money and support to terrorist groups (e.g., the Irish Republican Army in its heyday; Hamas; Hezbollah; and Lashkar-e-Taiba, in recent years).

Sikhs for Justice is far from the only Khalistani group present in the United States, and Sikhs for Justice itself operates a number of spin-off groups and media outlets, including US Media International, 156 Khabardar Punjab TV, 157 and new campaign organizations such as the Kashmir Khalistan Referendum Front (KKRF). 158 Along with the Khalistan Affairs Center (KAC), Sikhs for Justice is also closely involved 159 with Global Sikh Affairs Media, which is controlled by the Center's head, Amarjit Singh, 160 and runs the radical Khalistani news channel, TV84.161 TV84 runs almost weekly programming in support of the Pakistani position on Kashmir and India, with Khalistani speakers warning of a secret Indian "agenda" to "provoke Sikhs against Muslims and Pakistan." 162 The station also broadcasts overt propaganda for Kashmiri jihadists, referring to Lashkar-e-Taiba terrorists as "martyrs" dedicated to the "people's fight for democracy." 163

The Sikhs for Justice network also operates a so-called Embassy of Khalistan, which has the address of an ashram in California as its website registrant address¹⁶⁴ but which lists its address as the main Sikh *gurdwara* within the US, which is located on Massachusetts Avenue in Washington, DC, down the road from the US capital's famed Embassy Row.¹⁶⁵

Pannun and his Sikhs for Justice movement have even established an international humanitarian aid charity named Khalistan Food For All (KFFA), which is currently awaiting certification as a 501(c)(3) and claims to be assisting with United Nations efforts in the Congo. 166 Using international aid charities as fronts for extremist movements has long been a practice of Pakistani Islamist movements, which use them to

fundraise, accrue legitimacy, and, overall, shroud political efforts in a humanitarian guise.¹⁶⁷

Indeed, KFFA is not the first Khalistani aid organization to operate within the United States. For instance, also doing so is the international aid group Khalsa Aid, ¹⁶⁸ whose global network, according to India's National Investigation Agency, serves as a front for Babbar Khalsa International, a leading Pakistanisupported Sikh terrorist group. ¹⁶⁹

In addition to operating aid organizations that front for terrorist organizations, attempted takeovers of gurdwaras has long been a practice of Khalistani-linked groups. One such example is the Fremont gurdwara, the San Fransisco Bay Area's largest and most politically influential Sikh temple, having an estimated six thousand congregants. In 1996, as head of Sikh Youth of America, Jaswinder Singh Jhandi forcefully assumed control of the Fremont gurdwara. According to an investigative article published in the East Bay Express, "Local members characterize it [the gurdwara] as an organization committed to the Khalistan movement."170 Sikh Youth of America's Facebook page, which claims to "promote idea of Sovereign Sikh State Khalistan and iustice for all." has photographs of slain Sikh terrorists that it calls martyrs.¹⁷¹ But underneath the garb of advocacy for Khalistan nationalism was, according to the article, a "cocktail of alleged violence, immigration fraud, international drug trafficking, and bare-knuckled power grabs." 172

According to law enforcement documents provided by the Fremont Police Department, the US Drug Enforcement Agency, and the FBI, Jhandi was part of what was called the East Indian Drug Ring during the 1990s—a transnational drug-trafficking and DVD-piracy network. He and his associates were also accused of assaulting other Sikhs. Other prominent individuals from Sikh Youth of America were tried for DVD piracy, strong-arming of local shopkeepers to force them to sell their wares, and immigration fraud, 174 and the US government charged former secretary of the

Fremont *gurdwara*, Harminder Singh Samana, with preparing fraudulent political asylum requests.¹⁷⁵

According to the *East Bay Express* investigative article, Bhajan Singh Bhinder, president of the Fremont Gurdwara in the 1990s, publicly spoke of his group's charity work and support for political causes, but federal agents accused him of trying to procure assault weapons and shoulder-fired missiles for the Free Khalistan movement. Bhinder and associates "were evidently looking for something with more firepower, namely M-16s, AK-47s, detonators, night-vision goggles, mobile communications equipment, remote-control equipment, grenade and rocket launchers and ... Stinger missiles." A federal agent alleged that Bhinder travelled to Pakistan soon after the aborted arms deal and returned to the Bay Area six months later. 176

Investigators also contended privately that the Sikh Youth of America was associated with the International Sikh Youth Federation, which the US State Department has designated a global terrorist organization.¹⁷⁷ That group, active primarily in Canada, was suspected of instigating bloodshed in Vancouver's large Sikh community, and local police worried that similar violence could erupt in California's Bay Area were Khalistan extremists not stopped.¹⁷⁸

Today, Sikh Youth of America's most prominent public activity is through its Facebook page, 179 which has a few thousand followers. The group has also been involved in organizing several demonstrations, including that held outside the Indian Consulate in San Francisco in June 2015 to mark the thirty-first anniversary of Operation Blue Star. For this, the protestors carried the Khalistan flag and black flags, and the speakers included Jaswinder Singh Jhandi of Sikh Youth of America and Jaswant Singh Hothi, president of the American Gurdwara Prabandhak Committee. The speakers all demanded the formation of Khalistan. 180

The Khalistan activists have established a strong presence in ethnic electronic and print media. Their seminars, conferences,

and online campaigns eulogizing former Sikh militants have helped to advance a hardline ideology and the notion of revenge for "atrocities" committed against Sikhs. Indian law enforcement has identified several prominent Khalistan activists who have coordinated with Pakistan-based militants and leaders. The activities of Khalistan activists converge with those of ISI-backed Kashmiri separatists and of other anti-India groups.

Associated social media accounts of organizations within the Sikhs for Justice network feature hundreds of thousands of followers, ¹⁸¹ and social media is apparently where the most strident of Khalistani activists organize. Across the board, once prominent, hard-line Sikh activist groups appear to have little physical presence these days but remain plugged into a large global network of activists and militants that organize and converse online.

In 2013, the American Sikh Congressional Caucus was formed. While this constituted a milestone for Sikh Americans, many in the Sikh community, who wished to remain unidentified because they feared for their safety, raised concerns over the organization's and its advocates' inclusion of "pro-Khalistani elements," which, they feared, would eventually result in "blowback that would negate the very utility of the Caucus as an advocate for the civil rights of Sikh Americans." 182

According to one prominent Sikh American, many who championed the Caucus had "close relationships or they themselves [were] the strong advocates of Khalistan." These included Yadvinder Singh, former president of the American Gurdwara Prabandhak Committee, a coalition of about forty *gurdwaras* in North America, and former president of Sikh Youth of America. Others who attended the press event declaring the caucus's formation were Avtar Singh Pannu and Gurpatwant Singh Pannun of Sikhs for Justice, Pritpal Singh the founder and convener of the AGPC, and Amarjit Singh, head of the Khalistan Affairs Center. 184

In January 2017, a "liberation rally" held outside UN headquarters in New York on the day India celebrated "its 68th Republic Day" was organized by the Gurudwara Sikh Cultural Society of Richmond Hill, Queens, New York, with the support of management committees of *gurdwaras* in the New York, New Jersey, and Connecticut area. The Khalistan protestors carried placards that read "Wake up UN" and "Sikh Referendum 2020," while shouting slogans demanding freedom for Punjab. ¹⁸⁵ In the past, Kashmiri groups had organized similar protests, which prominent Pakistani community leaders frequently attended.

The next year, in 2018, pro-Khalistan groups sought to ban Indian officials from *gurdwaras* in the United States, emulating a similar ban in some parts of Canada and the United Kingdom. At the instigation of the Sikh Coordination Committee East Coast and American Gurdwara Prabandhak Committee, ninety-six *gurdwaras* in the United States therefore reportedly banned entry of Indian officials. ¹⁸⁶ In July 2020, these two ostensibly religious organizations announced a boycott of Indian politicians and a ban of Indian diplomats, political leaders, and consular staff from speaking engagements held in American *gurdwaras*. The boycott and ban were said to be related to "alleged recent arrests of Sikh youth in Punjab under [the] Unlawful Activities Prevention Act." ¹⁸⁷

Other organizations that enjoy tax-free status in the US as religious institutions but that engage in pro-Khalistan activities include the Sikh Cultural Society, Richmond Hill, New York; the Gurudwara Sikh Center, Flushing, New York; and the Glen Rock Gurudwara, Glen Rock, New Jersey. Since 2017, these groups have joined others in raising pro-Khalistan banners in front of the United Nations headquarters, ¹⁸⁸ and, on the anniversary of Operation Blue Star in October 2020, they organized special prayer sessions to commemorate the thirty-sixth anniversary of the death of Beant Singh and Satwant Singh, the assassins of former Indian Prime Minister Indira Gandhi. ¹⁸⁹ In April 2021, the Sikh Cultural Society of Richmond Hill organized "Khalistan Declaration Day." ¹⁹⁰

The World Sikh Parliament is yet another Khalistan group that observed Khalistan Declaration Day, in its case by hoisting the Sikh flag along with the American flag in the city hall of Holyoke, Massachusetts, in April 2020. 191 In July 2020, the Sikh Coordination Committee East Coast and American Gurdwara Prabandhak Committee (AGPC) hosted an emergency teleconference with 162 *gurudwara* representatives from the US and Canada calling in. The meeting adopted several resolutions, including extending the ban against "Indian diplomats, political leaders and consular staff from speaking engagements in US *gurdwaras*," referred to India as a "Terrorist Nation," and appealed to the "global Sikh community to unite to fight the biased and unfair policies of Indian establishment." 192

Although some of these activities fall within the Constitutional definition of exercising free speech, it must be noted that pro-Khalistan activists in the US continue to draw parallels between their struggle and the militant struggles in Palestine and Kashmir, both of which combined legitimate free-speech activities with support of and funding for violence. Thus, in several instances, US freedom of was exploited to orchestrate violence thousands of miles away.

A New Generation of Khalistani Activists in the United States

Over the past decade, in contrast to the apparently boundless energy of the newer Sikhs for Justice nexus, many of the original Khalistani groups have become defunct, with many of their founders passing away and their financing drying up. Groups such as World Sikh Organization have removed themselves entirely to Canada, while groups such as the International Sikh Organization have failed to raise sufficient funds to file a public tax return since 2013. The Council of Khalistan no longer has an active website, so that its only public statements are made via the Twitter account run by a few of its remaining volunteers. 194

In addition, the violence of groups such as Sikh Youth of America and the extremism of groups such as Sikhs for Justice, including their overt ties to Islamabad and militancy in India, appear to cause measured Sikh nationalists discomfort, and a number of calmer Khalistani efforts have thus been established in recent years. The World Sikh Parliament is a particularly prominent example. Founded in response to a "resolution of the Sarbat Khalsa (national gathering) held in the Sikh homeland Punjab in November 2015," the World Sikh Parliament appears to be a serious attempt to advance a Sikh "nation." It operates a number of "councils" that seek to restore "the lost Khalsa Raj," cast light on the plight of "martyrs" and "political prisoners languishing in various jails based on fabricated charges," and establish such new institutions as a "Sikh World Bank." ¹⁹⁵

Sikh nationalism is also found in growing calls for increased Sikh revivalism. For example, Harinder Singh, founder of the prominent Sikh Research Institute in New Jersey, is a prominent advocate for reforms in Sikh governance and is a member of the Free Akal Takht movement, 196 which seeks to supplant the authority of the Shiromani Gurdwara Parbandhak Committee over Sikhs worldwide. 197 There are other Sikh nationalist groups, such as the Revive Sarbat Khalsa movement, that back such campaigns. 198

A newer generation of politically strident Sikh groups, including the Sikh Coalition, has also expressed concern over the behavior of Sikh governance bodies such as the Akal Takht.¹⁹⁹ It is telling that most of these groups do not overtly advocate for the foundation of Khalistan but focus instead on the theological underpinnings of the Khalistani movement—and so pursue opportunities for advancing Sikh nationalism that are more readily attainable.

Whether this broadening of focus will ultimately serve to buttress or weaken the Khalistani movement remains to be seen. Some concerned Sikh activists believe a dilution of the movement has already taken place. In California, for example, groups such as the Jakara Movement, United Sikh Mission, and the Sikh Coalition back farmers' protests in India²⁰⁰ and embrace non-

Sikh issues such as Black Lives Matter. These groups' general progressivism is accompanied by occasional references to discrimination against Sikhs in Punjab, to Khalistan, and to the 1984 violence.

Indeed, other radical Sikh-run groups in the United States, such as Organization for Minorities in India, a leading voice in anti-Hindutva activities in America, also no longer discuss Khalistan or purported anti-Sikh atrocities in India only but disseminate information about all manner of progressivist causes.²⁰¹

Such changes have apparently evoked the ire of some younger American Sikhs, who consider such an approach weak²⁰²—perhaps a harbinger of a return to more strident Khalistani nationalism in the next generation or at least an explanation for the enduring popularity of truly extreme networks such as Sikhs for Justice.

The fight for the foundation of Khalistan is simply not as determined or explicit as it once was. One study of Sikh sentiments reported, "Khalistan was still a simmering issue within the Sikh American community, although not a focus of many Sikh American organizations in the post–September 11 period."²⁰³ And indeed, a closer look at politically minded Sikh community and activist groups across the United States does eventually, in most cases, turn up a commitment to Khalistan somewhere, but it is hardly the most prominent part of each group's agenda.

For example, the primary activities of today's Sikh Youth Alliance of North America include offering summer camps, organizing literature study circles, and running food pantries. While it overtly promotes Sikh political organization, the only apparent public reference to Khalistan within its recent publications, events, and documents was hidden in a document explaining the rules of an elocution competition organized for 16- to 22-year-olds, in which contestants were asked to discuss the long history of attacks by the "Indian government" on Sikhs and answer the

question "What should we do to move forward to get our birth right as an independent sovereign nation of Khalsa Panth?" 204

The finances and declared public grants of Sikh charities somewhat bear out the apparent changes in focus of Sikh American nationalist politics. Most of the Khalistani organizations founded in the 1980s and 1990s do not raise sufficient annual revenue to have to file non-profit tax returns, and charities such as Khalsa Aid raised only half a million dollars in 2019. Meanwhile, the newer generation of politicized Sikh organizations such as United Sikhs, the Sikh Coalition, the Jakara Movement, the Sikh Research Institute, and the Sikh American Legal Defense and Education Fund report are much more affluent, raising \$5 million between them in just 2019.

Sikhs for Justice's finances in the United States are something of a puzzle, and its circumstances opaque. A dearth of filed tax returns, along with a bewildering array of new 501(c)(3) registrations and multiple newly incorporated companies linked to Pannun across multiple jurisdictions give little clue as to its true financial status. One of the few tax returns available is for Amarjit Singh's Global Sikh Affairs Media organization, the parent organization of the Sikhs for Justice-aligned television station TV84. In 2019, it reported a somewhat paltry revenue of just over \$220,000.²⁰⁵

The Sikhs for Justice network certainly has significant funds at its disposal. It has adequate resources to operate branches in three countries, manage multiple television stations, and employ lobbying firms in Washington, DC, to advance its interests. In addition, in recent months, Sikhs for Justice has claimed it would provide an astonishing \$10 million in support to Punjab farmers protesting in India. Perhaps an idle boast, Sikhs for Justice's apparent ability to effect such rigorous, global activity could also be the result of third-party funders, whether hidden private individuals or a foreign state.

Among the 900 grants totaling \$23 million that Sikh organizations in the United States declared incoming and outgoing in tax returns during this period (and that this report's authors reviewed), over \$10 million was donated to the new generation of political Sikh organizations established within the last decade or so. As discussed above, these groups' primary focus is not advancing the Khalistani cause, although they certainly display some level of support for Sikh nationalism within a broader progressivist agenda. A significant number and diverse mix of private Sikh charitable foundations, employee-giving schemes, and progressivist fundraising bodies provide these donations. There is little sign, however, of overt charitable funding for the more hardline Khalistani advocates. In contrast to the funding given to recently formed Sikh political entities, Sikh 501(c)(3) organizations reportedly donated less than \$100,000 to the allegedly terror-tied charity²⁰⁶ Khalsa Aid, and a single gurdwara disclosed financial support for the Sikhs for Justice network, although it failed to state the exact amount.207



CHAPTER 5. POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

The Indian government has provided the US government considerable evidence of links between US-based Khalistan groups and militants and terrorists operating in India. The likelihood of Khalistan groups receiving funding, support, and military training from Pakistan is also substantive. The US should therefore take India's concerns seriously and dedicate the requisite intelligence and law enforcement resources to help India address these concerns.

Thus, the US government should take the following actions with respect to Khalistan groups:

 Include all groups responsible for terrorist attacks in India in its list of designated global terrorist groups.

- Designate as terrorists the various individuals that India and US intelligence and law enforcement have established as being connected to designated terrorist entities.
- **3.** Apply terror financing laws and regulations to the various groups espousing Kashmiri and Khalistan separatism.
- 4. Investigate US-based groups espousing Kashmiri and Khalistan separatism for possible violations of US laws related to foreign funding.

Photo caption: Photo: The national flag of India is hoisted at Times Square to mark Indian Independence Day on August 15, 2020 in New York City. (Jamie McCarthy/Getty Images) Use legal means established specifically to combat terrorism, including FISA warrants, to monitor suspected Kashmiri and Khalistan terrorism sympathizers and advocates.

The US government cannot afford to allow separatist movements from India, including those with ties to militant and terrorist groups, to grow unchecked among its otherwise lawabiding Sikh community. Its experience with Islamist extremist groups must serve as a template for dealing with Khalistan extremists, and so recruitment or fundraising for militancy or "martyrdom" must not be allowed on US soil, even if the actual acts of violence are to take place far away, in India. US authorities must not let ostensibly peaceful pro-Khalistan activism become the precursor of a new wave of violence in India's Punjab state. Similarly, the likelihood of unlawful foreign funding of the Khalistan movement should be investigated in a timely manner rather than being allowed to fester, as was the case with the Kashmir American Council.

In the aftermath of 9/11, the US Departments of State and Treasury began designating individuals and groups that engaged in or supported global terrorism as such. Instead of basing terrorist designations on actual acts or advocacy of terrorism, this designation process remains heavily politicized with few Khalistan-related groups or individuals having been so designated at this point in time. Since Executive Order 13224, issued on June 27, 2002,²⁰⁸ designated the International Sikh Youth Foundation and Babbar Khalsa International as terrorist entities, no other Khalistan-related group has been added.

Like Pakistan-based Islamist terrorist groups, the Khalistan groups can emerge under new names. Moreover, unless the US government prioritizes oversight of Khalistan-related militancy and terrorism, it is unlikely to identify groups that are currently

engaged in violence in Indian Punjab or are preparing to do so. One seldom finds what one is not looking for.

The complicated US relationship with Pakistan has probably been the cause of the US government's reluctance to act on intelligence from India concerning Khalistan activism. In the years following 9/11, Pakistan's role as the artery providing logistical support to the US military mission in Afghanistan took priority over its role of host to various terrorist groups. Moreover, within the United Nations Security Council, China blocked the designation of Pakistan-based terrorists under the US's terrorist-designation process. Only large-scale terrorist attacks, such as those that Pakistan-based jihadi groups carried out on the Indian Parliament (2001) and in Mumbai (2008), finally motivated the US Department of State and the UN Security Council to take the threat these groups pose with sufficient seriousness. A similar large-scale attack involving Khalistan terrorists has, thankfully, not taken place.

However, the raison d'être behind designating groups, individuals, or financiers as terrorists is to preempt terrorist attacks, not just react to them. The Khalistan movement's history and recent mobilization should serve as a reminder that, unless the threat it poses is somehow preempted, it could expand to a level where action might be too late to prevent large-scale loss of life.

India is now a critical US ally in the Indo-Pacific. As a member of the US-Australia-Japan-India Quad and a major defense partner, India deserves to be heard, understood, and supported by the US on a wide range of issues, including its concerns regarding violent and potentially violent secessionist movements covertly supported by China and Pakistan. Ignoring India's concerns about threats to its integrity could undermine its resolve to act as America's ally in confronting the aggressive intentions of Communist-led China, and this would constitute a significant and dangerous loss to the US.

ENDNOTES

- Virginia Van Dyke, "The Khalistan movement in Punjab-India and the post-militancy era: Structural change and new political compulsions," chapter 4 in Jugdep S. Chima, Ethnic Subnationalist Insurgencies in South Asia, ed. Jugdep S. Chima (New York: Routledge, 2015), 61-81.
- C. Christine Fair, Kerry Ashkenaze, and Scott Batchelder, "'Ground Hog Da Din' for the Sikh insurgency?," Small Wars & Insurgencies 32, no. 2 (2021): 344-373, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09592318.2020.1786920.
- 3 Michele Nichols, "Pakistan gives U.N. a dossier on India after India submits one on Pakistan," Reuters, November 24, 2010, https://www.reuters.com/article/india-pakistan-un/pakistan-givesu-n-a-dossier-on-india-after-india-submits-one-on-pakistanidUSKBN28504Y.
- 4 See inter alia, Pakistan: Friend Or Foe in the Fight Against Terrorism? Joint Hearing Before the Subcommittee on Terrorism, Nonproliferation, and Trade and the Subcommittee on Asia and the Pacific of the Committee on Foreign Affairs, 114th Cong. (July 12, 2016), https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CHRG-114hhrg20742/html/CHRG-114hhrg20742.htm; Shaun Gregory, "The ISI and the War on Terrorism," Studies in Conflict & Terrorism 30, no. 12 (2007): 1013-1031; S. Paul Kapur and Sumit Ganguly, "The Jihad Paradox: Pakistan and Islamist Militancy in South Asia," International Security 37, no. 1 (2012): 111-141; Daniel Byman, "Understanding, and Misunderstanding, State Sponsorship of Terrorism," Studies in Conflict & Terrorism (2020), https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2020.1738682.
- 5 Bureau of Counterterrorism, Country Report on Terrorism 2019: Pakistan (US Department of State, June 2020), https://www.state.gov/reports/country-reports-on-terrorism-2019/pakistan/.
- 6 Owen L. Sirrs, Pakistan's Inter-Services Intelligence Directorate: Covert Action and Internal Operations (London, Routledge, 2016), 167.
- 7 "Country Ratings," Gallup, https://news.gallup.com/poll/1624/perceptions-foreign-countries.aspx.
- 8 Peyton M. Craighill, "Poll Watchers: Americans have strongly negative view of Pakistan," *The Washington Post*, May 19, 2011, https://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/behind-the-numbers/ post/poll-watchers-americans-have-strongly-negative-view-of-pakistan/2011/05/11/AFJ4dF7G_blog.html.
- 9 Angel Rabasa et al., *The Lessons of Mumbai*, Ocassional Paper 249 (Santa Monica: RAND Corporation, 2009).
- 10 The Mumbai Attacks: A Wake-Up Call For America's Private Sector: Hearing before the Subcommittee on Transportation Security and Infrastructure Protection of the Committee on Homeland Security, Cong. 111 (March 11, 2009), https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CHRG-111hhrg49944/html/CHRG-111hhrg49944. htm; Lessons From The Mumbai Terrorist Attacks—Parts I and II: Hearings before the Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs, United States Senate, Cong. 111 (January 8, 2009, and January 28, 2009), https://www.govinfo.gov/con-

- tent/pkg/CHRG-111shrg49484/html/CHRG-111shrg49484.htm; Al-Qaeda, the Taliban, and Other Extremists Groups in Afghanistan and Pakistan: Hearing Before the Committee on Foreign Relations, United States Senate, Cong. 112 (May 24, 2011), https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CHRG-112shrg67892/html/CHRG-112shrg67892.htm.
- 11 Yashwant Raj, "It is time to broaden the counter-terrorism battle," The Hindustan Times, July 19, 2019, https://www.hindustan-times.com/columns/opinion-it-is-time-to-broaden-the-counter-terrorism-battle/story-QVN8tcEbe2kRH1WwaXEMM.html; HT Correspondent, "PM Modi to ask UK to take action against radical Sikh groups," Hindustan Times, November 12, 2015, https://www.hindustantimes.com/punjab/modi-to-ask-uk-to-take-action-against-sikh-radical-groups/story-FmmPJDjA5HNiiBIBizAulO. html; Elizabeth Roche, "Modi-Trudeau meet: India, Canada agree to jointly combat terrorism," Mint, February 24, 2018, https://www.livemint.com/Politics/5mrrPJtYEQPwRpzsdRO83O/PM-Modi-meets-Trudeau-says-those-challenging-Indias-unity.html.
- Most of the Islamist militants working under the auspices of Pakistan's major Islamist groups are not in fact Kashmiri; rather, they are overwhelmingly from the Pakistani province of Punjab. See C. Christine Fair, "Insights from a Database of Lashkar-e-Taiba and Hizb-ul-Mujahideen Militants," *Journal of Strategic Studies* 37, no. 2 (2014): 259-290, https://doi.org/10.1080/01402390.2013.8116 47.
- 13 Mukhtar A. Khan, "India's Sikh militants forming ties with Lash-kar-e-Taiba and Pakistani intelligence," *Terrorism Monitor* 7 no. 1 (January 9, 2009): 1-4, https://www.cia.gov/library/abbotta-bad-compound/E6/E6F2FF4465673943B6FCE76ED4D618B8_TM_007_1.pdf.
- 14 Yudhvir Rana, "Sikh, Kashmiri separatists stage an anti-India protest in the US," *The Times of India*, August 7, 2020, http:// timesofindia.indiatimes.com/articleshow/77402905.cms?utm_ source=contentofinterest&utm_medium=text&utm_campaign=cppst.
- 15 Samira Sadeque, "New York: Thousands rally for human rights in Kashmir," Al Jazeera, September 29, 2019, https://www. aljazeera.com/news/2019/9/29/new-york-thousands-rally-for-human-rights-in-kashmir.
- 16 "Kashmiris, Sikhs protest Modi visit outside White House," *Geo TV*, June 27, 2017, ttps://www.geo.tv/latest/147209-members-of-kashmiri-sikh-communities.
- 17 "30,000 Pakistanis, Kashmiris & Sikhs Await Modi with Mammoth Protest in Houston," *The Village Space*, September 21, 2019, https://www.globalvillagespace.com/30000-pakistanis-kashmiris-sikhs-await-modi-with-mammoth-protest-in-houston/.
- 18 Amarjit Singh, "Sikh & Kashmiri Canadians Protest In Ottawa Against PM Manmohan Singh's Visit to That City," Panthic, June 30, 2010, https://www.panthic.org/articles/5267; "Sikhs & Kashmiris protest in front of Indian High Commission at Canada's Capitol, Ottawa," TV84, August 19, 2019, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8dWgOP0f2gl.

- 19 Hamza Azhar Salam and Murtaza Ali Shah, "Sikhs, Kashmiris mark India's Independence Day by observing 'Black Day' in London," *The News*, August 16, 2020, https://www.thenews.com. pk/latest/701435-sikhs-kashmiris-mark-indias-independence-day-by-observing-black-day-in-london.
- 20 "Sikhs support Kashmiris protest on Modi's visit," *The Nation*, March 8, 2016, https://nation.com.pk/08-Mar-2016/sikhs-support-kashmiris-protest-on-modi-s-visit.
- 21 Khalid Hameed Farooqi, "Thousands take to street in Geneva to protest Indian brutality in Kashmir, Punjab," *Geo TV,* November 2, 2019, https://www.geo.tv/latest/254190-thousands-take-to-street-in-geneva-to-protest-indian-brutality-in-kashmir-punjab.
- 22 Salim Jiwa, "Suspects in the Air India Bombing," ABC News, January 6, 2006, https://abcnews.go.com/International/story?id=82216&page=1.
- 23 Terry Milewski, Khalistan: A Project of Pakistan (Ottawa: MacDonald-Laurier Institute, September 2020), https://macdonaldlaurier.ca/ files/pdf/20200820_Khalistan_Air_India_Milewski_PAPER_FWeb.pdf.
- 24 Harjot S. Oberoi "From Punjab to 'Khalistan': Territoriality and Metacommentary," *Pacific Affairs* 60, no. 1 (Spring 1987): 26-41, https://pacificaffairs.ubc.ca/files/2011/07/Volume60.pdf; Stephen Oren. "The Sikhs, Congress, and the Unionists in British Punjab, 1937-1945," *Modern Asian Studies* 8 no. 3 (1974): 397-418, https://doi.org/10.1017/S0026749X00014700.
- 25 Shereen Ilahi. "The Radcliffe Boundary Commission and the fate of Kashmir," *India Review* 2, no. 1 (2003): 77-102, https://doi. org/10.1080/714002326.
- 26 Hamish Telford. "The political economy of Punjab: Creating space for Sikh militancy," *Asian Survey* 32, no. 11 (1992): 969-987, https://doi.org/10.2307/2645265.
- 27 Oberoi "From Punjab to 'Khalistan,' "https://pacificaffairs.ubc.ca/files/2011/07/Volume60.pdf.
- 28 For various accounts, see Rajiv A. Kapur, "'Khalistan': India's Punjab problem." Third World Quarterly 9, no. 4 (1987): 1206-1224, https://doi.org/10.1080/01436598708420023; Van Dyke, 61-81; Philip Hultquist, "The improbable rise and inglorious fall of the Khalistan insurgency in India's Punjab," chapter 7 in Terrorism, Security and Development in South Asia: National, Regional and Global Implications, ed. M. Raymond Izarali and Dalbir Ahlawat (New York: Routledge, 2021), 121-139; Jasdev Rai, "Khalistan Is Dead! Long Live Khalistan!" Sikh Formations 7, no. 1 (2011): 1-41, https://doi.org/10.1080/17448727.2011.561607; C. Christine Fair, "Lessons from India's Experience in the Punjab, 1978-93," in Sumit Ganguly and David P. Fidler eds., India and Counterinsurgency: Lessons Learned (New York: Routledge, 2009), 107-126; Jugdep S. Chima, The Sikh Separatist Insurgency in India: Political Leadership and Ethnonationalist Movements. (New Delhi: SAGE Publications India, 2008).
- 29 Gary J. Bass, *The Blood Telegram: Nixon, Kissinger and a Forgotten Genocide* (New Delhi: Random House India, 2013);

- Srinath Raghavan, 1971: A Global History of the Creation of Bangladesh (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2013).
- 30 Sirrs, 167.
- 31 Giani Ajmer Singh, "Anandpur Sahib Resolution Authenticated by Sant Harchand Singh Longowal," South Asia Terrorism Portal (1977; posted on the SATP site 2001), https://www.satp.org/satporgtp/countries/india/states/punjab/document/papers/anant-pur_sahib_resolution.htm.
- 32 Pritam Singh and Navtej K. Purewal, "The resurgence of Bhindranwale's image in contemporary Punjab," *Contemporary South Asia* 21, no. 2 (2013): 133-147, https://doi.org/10.1080/0958493 5.2013.773291.
- 33 Telford, "The political economy of Punjab," https://doi. org/10.2307/2645265.
- 34 K. S. Brar, Operation Blue Star: The True Story (New Delhi: UBS Publishers, 1993).
- 35 Robert L. Hardgrave, "India in 1984: Confrontation, Assassination, and Succession, "Asian Survey 25 no. 2 (1985): 131-144, https://doi.org/10.2307/2644297.
- 36 K. P. S. Gill, "Endgame in Punjab, 1988-93," South Asia Terrorism Portal, 2001, https://www.satp.org/satporgtp/publication/fault-lines/volume1/fault1-kpstext.htm.
- 37 Sirrs.
- 38 Sirrs, 39.
- 39 Sirrs, 39.
- 40 C. Christine Fair, Fighting to the End: The Pakistan Army's Way of War (New York: Oxford University Press, 2014).
- 41 Sirrs, 40.
- 42 J. N. Dixit, *India-Pakistan: In War and Peace* (London: Routledge, 2002), 245.
- 43 Husain Haqqani, *Pakistan Between Mosque and Military* (Washington DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2005).
- 44 Sirrs, 167.
- 45 Haroonur Rashid, Faateh–Afghanistan Mein Roosi Shikast kay Memaar General Akhtar Abdul Rahman ki Daastaan-e-Hay (The Victor—Life Story of the architect of Russian Defeat in Afghanistan General Akhtar Abdul Rahman) (Lahore: Jang Publishers, 1997), 162.
- 46 Rashid.
- 47 Sirrs, 167.
- 48 Sirrs, 168.

- 49 "Sikhs suffer in Pakistan while ISI promotes Khalistan agenda," The Economic Times, September 20, 2020, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/defence/sikhs-suffer-in-pakistan-while-isi-promotes-khalistan-agenda-report/article-show/78212990.cms?utm_source=contentofinterest&utm_medium=text&utm_campaign=cppst.
- 50 Maryam Razavy, "Sikh Militant Movements in Canada," Terrorism and Political Violence 18, no. 1 (2006): 79-93, https://doi.org/10.1080/09546550500174913; Hultquist, 121-139.
- 51 US Department of State, "Asia Overview," Patterns of Global Terrorism: 1991 (Washington, DC, 1992), https://fas.org/irp/threat/ terror_91/asia.html.
- 52 Azhar Sohail, *Agencio ki Hukoomat (Government by Covert Agencies)* (Lahore: Vanguard Books, 1993), 34.
- 53 Haggani.
- 54 Ardeshir Cowasjee, "Three Stars." *Dawn*, January 12, 2003, https://www.dawn.com/news/1072680.
- 55 "NAB inquiry against former ETPB chief put off." *Dawn*, August 25, 2002, https://www.dawn.com/news/54200/nab-inquiry-against-former-etpb-chief-put-off.
- 56 D. P. Sharma, *The New Terrorism: Islamist International* (New Delhi: APH Publishing, 2005), 408.
- 57 Qaiser Butt, "Islamabad refuses to hand over ex-ISI chief to Bosnia tribunal," *The Express Tribune*, September 20, 2011, https://tribune.com.pk/story/256199/islamabad-refuses-to-hand-over-ex-isi-chief-to-bosnia-tribunal.
- 58 Yudhvir Rana, "Appointment of ETPB's new chairman challenged in court," *Times of India*, April 30, 2019, https://timesofindia. indiatimes.com/world/pakistan/appointment-of-etpbs-new-chairman-challenged-in-court/articleshow/69119729.cms.
- 59 Manjeet Sehgal, "How Khalistani leader Gopal Singh Chawla radicalized Punjab man to get sensitive IAF info," *India Today*, August 20, 2019, https://www.indiatoday.in/india/story/gopal-singh-chawla-khalistan-isi-informer-1592882-2019-08-29.
- 60 Sehgal, https://www.indiatoday.in/india/story/gopal-singh-chaw-la-khalistan-isi-informer-1592882-2019-08-29.
- 61 Varinder Singh, "Pak drops pro-Khalistan activist Gopal Chawla, others from PSGPC," *The Tribune* (Chandigarh, India, July 14, 2019), https://www.tribuneindia.com/news/archive/punjab/pak-drops-pro-khalistan-activist-gopal-chawla-others-frompsgpc-801600.
- 62 Fair, Ashkenaze, and Batchelder, https://doi.org/10.1080/095923 18.2020.1786920.
- 63 Sehgal, https://www.indiatoday.in/india/story/gopal-singh-chaw-la-khalistan-isi-informer-1592882-2019-08-29.

- 64 Aishwarya Sonawane, "'Khalistan Will Be Free, Kashmir Will Be Free,' Said Hafiz Saeed's Aide Gopal Singh Chawla Drawing An Attack On India," Republic TV, December 1, 2018, https://www.republicworld.com/world-news/pakistan-news/khalistan-will-be-free-kashmir-will-be-free-said-hafiz-saeeds-aide-gopal-singh-chawla-drawing-an-attack-on-india.html.
- 65 Helen Regan, Sophia Saifi, and Manveena Suri, "India-Pakistan 'peace corridor' opens Sikh temple to tourists," *CNN*, November 7, 2019, https://www.cnn.com/travel/article/india-pakistan-kartarpur-corridor-opens-intl-hnk/index.html.
- 66 Aishwarya Sonawane, "'Khalistan Will Be Free, Kashmir Will Be Free,' Said Hafiz Saeed's Aide Gopal Singh Chawla Drawing An Attack On India," Republic TV, December 1, 2018, https://www.republicworld.com/world-news/pakistan-news/khalistan-will-be-free-kashmir-will-be-free-said-hafiz-saeeds-aide-gopal-singh-chawla-drawing-an-attack-on-india.html.
- 67 "India designates nine individuals linked to Khalistani groups as terrorists," *The Hindu*, July 2, 2020, https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/india-designates-nine-individuals-linked-to-khalistani-groups-as-terrorists/article31964834.ece.
- 68 "40 pro-Khalistan websites of banned US-based group 'Sikhs For Justice' blocked," *Mint*, July 5, 2020, https://www.livemint.com/technology/tech-news/40-pro-khalistan-websites-of-banned-us-based-group-sikhs-for-justice-blocked-11593964864621.html.
- 69 Neeraj Chauhan, "NIA probing Khalistani funding for protests against India overseas," Hindustan Times, December 23, 2020, https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/nia-probing-khalistani-funding-for-protests-against-india-overseas/story-jWvN7ynH1iUBg6C9JEBQYI.html.
- 70 Neeraj Chauhan, "NIA probing Khalistani funding for protests against India overseas," *Hindustan Times*, December 23, 2020, https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/nia-probing-khalistani-funding-for-protests-against-india-overseas/story-jWvN7ynH1iUBg6C9JEBQYI.html.
- 71 Gurpatwant Singh Pannun, "December 16 'Fall of Dhaka' is the past, 'Fall of Delhi' is inevitable," letter sent to Imran Khan on behalf of Sikhs for Justice, December 2020, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JlauDGaz_DQ.
- 72 Gurpatwant Singh Pannun, "December 16 'Fall of Dhaka' is the past, 'Fall of Delhi' is inevitable," letter sent to Imran Khan on behalf of Sikhs for Justice, December 2020, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JlauDGaz DQ.
- 73 Pannun, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JlauDGaz_DQ.
- 74 Pannun, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JlauDGaz_DQ.
- 75 See Gopal Singh, *Politics of Sikh Homeland: 1940–1990* (New Delhi: Ajanta, 1994).
- 76 Gurharpal Singh, "The control of sacred spaces: Sikh shrines in Pakistan from the partition to the Kartarpur corridor," Sikh Forma-

- tions: Religion, Culture, Theory 16, no. 3 (2020): 209-226, https://doi.org/10.1080/17448727.2019.1593305.
- 77 Shyamal Kataria, "Realpolitik in the Khalistan Movement." Economic & Political Weekly 54, no. 6 (2019): 52, https://www.epw.in/journal/2019/6/special-articles/realpolitik-khalistan-movement. html.
- 78 Kataria.
- 79 Vibhor Mohan, "Congress wins Punjab with 77 seats, AAP bags 20," Times of India, March 11, 2017, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/elections/assembly-elections/punjab/news/congress-wins-punjab-with-77-seats-aap-bags-20/articleshow/57596968.
- 80 Jatinder Kaur Tur, "Why did the MHA designate Gurpatwant Pannun, a Khalistani with little following, a terrorist?," The Caravan, October 15, 2020, https://caravanmagazine.in/politics/why-didthe-mha-designate-gurpatwant-pannun-khalistani-little-followinga-terrorist.
- 81 Tur, https://caravanmagazine.in/politics/why-did-the-mha-desig-nate-gurpatwant-pannun-khalistani-little-following-a-terrorist.
- 82 Gurpatwant Singh Pannun, "Pro Khalistan Sikhs Condemn Modi's Government Violent Aggression Against China" (letter to President Xi Jinping, June 17, 2020) in Tejinder Singh, "Sikhs for Justice Aligns with China Raising Fears of Spying," *India America Today*, June 18, 2020, https://www.indiaamericatoday.com/article/sikhsfor-justice-aligns-with-china-raising-fears-of-spying/.
- 83 Gurpatwant Singh Pannun, "December 16 'Fall of Dhaka' is the past, 'Fall of Delhi' is inevitable," letter sent to Imran Khan on behalf of Sikhs for Justice, December 2020, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JlauDGaz_DQ.; Tejinder Singh "Sikhs for Justice Aligns with Sworn Adversaries of the US," India America Today, July 8, 2020 https://www.indiaamericatoday.com/article/sikhsfor-justice-aligns-with-sworn-adversaries-of-the-us/.
- 84 Pannun in Tejinder Singh, https://www.indiaamericatoday.com/article/sikhs-for-justice-aligns-with-china-raising-fears-of-spying/.
- 85 Pannun in Tejinder Singh, "Sikhs for Justice Aligns with Sworn Adversaries of the US," *India America Today*, July 8, 2020, https://www.indiaamericatoday.com/article/sikhs-for-justice-aligns-with-sworn-adversaries-of-the-us/.
- 86 "Russian troops arrive for drill with Pakistan military," *Dawn*, November 6, 2020, https://www.dawn.com/news/1588880.
- 87 Dipanjan Roy Chaudhury, "Website of Sikhs for justice has links with Pakistan," *Economic Times*, August 9, 2018, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/politics-and-nation/website-of-sikhs-for-justice-has-links-with-pakistan/articleshow/65330890. cms?from=mdr.
- 88 "Pannun Law Firm," Reverse Whois, ViewDNS.info, https://viewdns.info/reversewhois/?q=Pannun.

- 89 Chaudhury, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/politics-and-nation/website-of-sikhs-for-justice-has-links-with-pakistan/articleshow/65330890.cms?from=mdr.
- 90 Yudhvir Rana, "Pak allows SFJ to open 'Referendum 2020' office in Lahore," *Times of India*, November 23, 2018, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/chandigarh/pak-allows-sfj-to-open-referendum-2020-office-in-lahore/articleshow/66758012.cms.
- 91 "Virginia Man Pleads Guilty in Scheme to Conceal Pakistan Government Funding for His US Lobbying Efforts," FBI, December 7, 2011, https://archives.fbi.gov/archives/wash-ingtondc/press-releases/2011/virginia-man-pleads-guilty-in-scheme-to-conceal-pakistan-government-funding-for-his-US-lobbying-efforts.
- 92 Ankit Kumar, "Pakistan attempts to sabotage Howdy, Modi event in US," *India Today*, September 20, 2019, https://www.indiatoday.in/india/story/pakistani-attempts-to-sabotage-howdy-modievent-in-us-1601491-2019-09-20.
- 93 Singh Rana, GoBackModi (poster), September 14, 2019, https://www.facebook.com/photo.php?fbid=10156280238232676&set=a.383828847675.
- 94 "Kashmir Seeks Attention," Twitter, July 28, 2020, https://twitter.com/HameedAPHC/status/1288177889268191234/photo/1.
- 95 Martha Lee, "Stand With Kashmir not an innocent hashtag, it supports violent Islamists and terrorists," *ThePrint*, May 26, 2020, https://theprint.in/opinion/stand-with-kashmir-not-innocent-supports-violent-islamists-terrorists/429425/.
- 96 Lee, https://theprint.in/opinion/stand-with-kashmir-not-innocent-supports-violent-islamists-terrorists/429425/.
- 97 "Dukhtaran-e-Millat," South Asia Terrorism Portal, n.d., https://www.satp.org/satporgtp/countries/india/states/jandk/terrorist_outfits/dukhtaran.htm.
- 98 Ruthless Collective LinkTree, Ruthless Collective, https://linktr.ee/ruthlessclv.
- 99 Ruthless Collective, Twitter, May 9, 2021, https://twitter.com/ ruthlessclv/status/1391284606255595525.
- 100 National Investigation Agency, "Activities of Babbar Khalsa International," Government of India, August 28, 2012, https:// web.archive.org/web/20181221230558/https://www.nia.gov.in/ case-detail.htm?37; "Babbar Khalsa International," South Asia Terrorism Portal, 2001.
- 101 "Hundreds in California Protest India's New Citizenship Amendment Act," Organization for Minorities of India, December 16, 2019, http://www.ofmi.org/hundreds-in-california-protest-indias-new-citizenship-amendment-act/.
- 102 Malcolm Gay, "Singh vs. Singh," East Bay Express, November 19, 2003, https://eastbayexpress.com/singh-vs-singh-1/.

- 103 Benjamin Baird, "Chicago's Indian American Muslim Council doth protest too much," Sunday Guardian Live, January 30, 2021, https://www.sundayguardianlive.com/news/chicagos-indian-american-muslim-council-doth-protest-much.
- 104 "Khalid Awan Convicted of Providing Material Support and Resources to Indian Terrorist Organization," Department of Justice, December 20, 2006, https://www.justice.gov/archive/usao/nye/pr/2006/2006Dec20.html.
- 105 "Khalid Awan Convicted," https://www.justice.gov/archive/usao/nye/pr/2006/2006Dec20.html.
- 106 "Khalid Awan Convicted", https://www.justice.gov/archive/usao/nye/pr/2006/2006Dec20.html.
- 107 Tom Rosentiel, "How Many US Sikhs?," Pew Research Center, August 6, 2012, https://www.pewresearch.org/2012/08/06/askthe-expert-how-many-us-sikhs/; Pluralism Project, "America or Khalistan?," Harvard University (2020), https://pluralism.org/america-or-khalistan; Sikh American Legal Defense and Education Fund (SALDEF), "Who Are Sikh Americans?," n.d., https://saldef. org/who-are-sikh-americans/; Savita Patel, "Will US Census 2020 Help Sikh Americans 'Rock The Vote' This Time?," The Quint, September 29, 2020, https://www.thequint.com/voices/opinion/ indian-american-sikh-community-voters-united-states-census-2020-minority-representation-presidential-polls#read-more.
- 108 Sikh American Legal Defense and Education Fund (SALDEF), "2020 National Sikh American Survey," National Sikh American Survey Results & Report, December 2020, https://saldef.org/national-sikh-survey-results/.
- 109 Robin Cohen, *Global Diasporas: An Introduction*, 2nd ed. (New York: Routledge, 2008), 116.
- 110 Pluralism Project, https://pluralism.org/america-or-khalistan.
- 111 "Virginia Man Pleads Guilty in Scheme to Conceal Pakistan Government Funding for His US Lobbying Efforts," FBI, December 7, 2011, https://archives.fbi.gov/archives/washingtondc/press-releases/2011/virginia-man-pleads-guilty-in-scheme-to-conceal-pakistan-government-funding-for-his-US-lobbying-efforts.
- 112 "Secessionists Canvass Cause," News-India Times, July 24, 1992.
- 113 Jatinder Preet, "Kashmir, Khalistan lobbyists join hands," *Sunday Guardian*, July 31, 2011, http://www.sunday-guardian.com/news/kashmir-khalistan-lobbyists-join-hands.
- 114 "Virginia Man Pleads Guilty," https://archives.fbi.gov/archives/ washingtondc/press-releases/2011/virginia-man-pleads-guilty-inscheme-to-conceal-pakistan-government-funding-for-his-US-lobbying-efforts.
- 115 "Virginia Man Pleads Guilty," https://archives.fbi.gov/archives/ washingtondc/press-releases/2011/virginia-man-pleads-guilty-inscheme-to-conceal-pakistan-government-funding-for-his-US-lobbying-efforts.

- 116 "U.S.A v Ghulam Nabi Fai," U.S. District Court of Virginia, https://www.investigativeproject.org/documents/case_docs/2035.pdf.
- 117 "Virginia Man Pleads Guilty," https://archives.fbi.gov/archives/washingtondc/press-releases/2011/virginia-man-pleads-guilty-in-schemeto-conceal-pakistan-government-funding-for-his-US-lobbying-efforts.
- 118 "Virginia Man Pleads Guilty," https://archives.fbi.gov/archives/ washingtondc/press-releases/2011/virginia-man-pleads-guilty-inscheme-to-conceal-pakistan-government-funding-for-his-US-lobbying-efforts.
- 119 Eric Lipton, "Lawmakers Say Pakistani Plot Did Not Influence Actions," *New York Times*, July 20, 2011, https://www.nytimes.com/2011/07/21/us/politics/21agent.html.
- 120 Edward Walsh, "Burton: A 'Pit Bull' in the Chair," *Washington Post*, March 19, 1997, https://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-srv/politics/special/campfin/stories/pitbull.htm.
- 121 Byron Tau, "Rep. Burton may have received Pakistani cash," Politico, July 19, 2011, https://www.politico.com/blogs/ ben-smith/2011/07/rep-burton-may-have-received-pakistanicash-037594.
- 122 Eric Lipton, "Lawmakers Say Pakistani Plot Did Not Influence Actions," *New York Times*, July 20, 2011, https://www.nytimes.com/2011/07/21/us/politics/21agent.html.
- 123 Diditi Mitra, "The Boundaries between 'Home' and 'Diaspora': American Sikhs and the Construction of Place," *Journal of Punjab Studies* 22, issue 2 (Fall 2015).
- 124 Decades of Terror: Exploring Human Rights Abuses in Kashmir and the Disputed Territories Before the Subcommittee on Human Rights and Wellness, Committee on Government Reform, 108th Cong. (May 12, 2004).
- 125 Hon. Edolphus Towns, "Dr. Aulakh of Council of Khalistan Nominated for Nobel Peace Prize," C. R. 144, no. 147 (comments, 105th Cong., October 15, 1998), https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CREC-1998-10-15/html/CREC-1998-10-15-pt1-PgE2197.htm.
- 126 Hon. Edolphus Towns, "India Should Be Declared A Terrorist State," Federation of American Scientists (comments, 105th Cong., October 6, 1998), https://fas.org/irp/congress/1998_cr/h981006-india. htm. See also, for example, Hon. Towns, "Sikhs Must Have A Free Khalistan, All Other Religious Groups Have Their Own Countries, Sikhs Are Separate Religion, Culture, Language, and People" (comments, 107th Cong., November 28, 2001), https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CRECB-2001-pt16/pdf/CRECB-2001-pt16-Pg23304. pdf; Hon. Towns, "New Threat to Freedom of Speech and Press in India as Warrant Is Issued for Sikh Editor" (comments, 110th Cong., June 28, 2007), https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CREC-2007-06-28/pdf/CREC-2007-06-28-pt1-PgE1440-2.pdf.
- 127 Multiple places in the Congressional Record attribute this to Rohrabacher; however, we were unable to find the original reference to this event.

- 128 Hon. Philip M. Crane, C.R. 141, no. 194, "An Independent Khalistan" (comments, 104th Cong., December 6, 1995), https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CREC-1995-12-07/html/CREC-1995-12-07-pt1-PgE2309.htm.
- 129 Hon. John T. Doolittle, "Sikh Leader's Letter Exposes Conflict In Kashmir" (comments, 106th Cong., July 1, 1999), https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CREC-1999-07-01/html/CREC-1999-07-01-pt2-PgE1471.htm.
- 130 Hon. Dan Burton, "Reaction To Indian Prime Minister." (comments, 107th Cong., September 19, 2000), https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CREC-2000-09-19/html/CREC-2000-09-19-pt1-PgE1531.htm.
- 131 Hon. Dan Burton, https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CREC-2000-09-19/html/CREC-2000-09-19-pt1-PgE1531.htm.
- 132 Hon. Dan Burton, https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CREC-2000-09-19/html/CREC-2000-09-19-pt1-PgE1531.htm.
- 133 Hon. Dan Burton, https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CREC-2000-09-19/html/CREC-2000-09-19-pt1-PgE1531.htm.
- 134 Tania Anand, "Anti-India lobby gains momentum in US," *India Today*, July 22, 1993, https://www.indiatoday.in/magazine/international/story/19931115-anti-india-lobby-gains-momentum-in-us-811801-1993-11-15; Therese Suhashini Gunawardena, "Contesting Khalistan: The Sikh Diaspora and the Politics of Separatism" (PhD diss., University of Texas at Austin, May 2001), https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/bitstream/handle/2152/6181/txu-oclc-50210877.pdf;sequence=4.
- 135 Ghulam Nabi Fai, "Kashmir: Symbol of multiculturalism," *Daily Times*, February 23, 2021, https://dailytimes.com.pk/726820/kashmir-symbol-of-multiculturalism/.
- 136 "Kashmiri separatist groups protest in New York, demand UN intervention," Hindustan Times, July 16, 2016. https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/kashmiri-separatist-groups-protest-in-new-york-demand-un-intervention/story-f4pK44QK5sHx-PJrLQ0OfPM.html.
- 137 "Kashmiris, Sikhs stage anti-India protest at UN," *The Nation*, September 25, 2017, https://nation.com.pk/25-Sep-2017/kashmiris-sikhs-stage-anti-india-protest-at-un.
- 138 "American Kashmiris, Pakistanis, Sikh brethren stage anti-India demonstration in front of UN building in NY," *Balochistan Times*, August 26, 2019.
- 139 2019 Tax Return, Form 990, Global Affairs Sikh Media Inc. ProPublica. https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/display_990/815468856/04_2021_prefixes_81-82% 2F815468856_201912_990_2021040517883053.
- 140 "Kashmir Martyrs Day Rally- Times Square New York | TV84 Report," YouTube Video, TV84, July 12, 2021.
- 141 Preet, http://www.sunday-guardian.com/news/kashmir-khalistan-lobbyists-join-hands.

- 142 IRS 990 Filings, Registry of Open Data on AWS, https://registry.opendata.aws/irs990/.
- 143 "API Reference: version 0.4.8," OpenCorporates, https://api. opencorporates.com/documentation/API-Reference.
- 144 "Pannun Law Firm," Reverse Whois Lookup, ViewDNS.info, https://viewdns.info/reversewhois/?q=Pannun.
- 145 IRS 990 Filings, Registry of Open Data on AWS, https://registry.opendata.aws/irs990/.
- 146 "US court summons Congress for Sikh 'genocide' in 1984," Press Trust of India, March 3, 2011, https://economictimes. indiatimes.com/news/politics-and-nation/us-court-summons-congress-for-sikh-genocide-in-1984/articleshow/7616384. cms?from=mdr.
- 147 "US court dismisses 1984 rights violation case against Congress," *Press Trust of India*, December 20, 2014, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/politics-and-nation/us-court-dismisses-1984-rights-violation-case-against-congress/articleshow/45584647.cms?from=mdr.
- 148 Yoshita Singh, "1984 riots case: US court dismisses lawsuit against Sonia Gandhi," *Mint*, June 11, 2014, https://www.livemint.com/Politics/9Zc5WkpugH6d3WGjFDkDZP/1984-riots-case-US-court-dismisses-lawsuit-against-Sonia-Ga.html.
- 149 "Class action lawsuit against PM, intel blames pro-Khalistan units," Hindustan Times, September 21, 2019, https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/class-action-lawsuit-against-pm-intel-blames-pro-khalistan-units/story-txPWhmYkOXlpSRvF-gEOP5N.html and https://storage.courtlistener.com/recap/gov.uscourts.txsd.1705599/gov.uscourts.txsd.1705599.1.0.pdf.
- 150 "Eezham Tamil mandate picks up global momentum," *Tamil Net*, November 3, 2009, http://www.tamilnet.com/art.html?catid=13&artid=30548.
- 151 Peter Chalk, "The Tigers Abroad: How the LTTE Diaspora Supports the Conflict in Sri Lanka," *Georgetown Journal of International Affairs* 9, no. 2 (Summer/Fall 2008): 97-104, https://www.jstor.org/stable/43133783.
- $152\ \ \hbox{``Referendum}\ 2020, \hbox{'`Sikhs for Justice, https://referendum}\ 2020.org/.$
- 153 "SFJ trying to instigate Sikhs in Army: NIA," *Times of India*, December 10, 2020, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/sfj-trying-to-instigate-sikhs-in-army-nia/articleshow/79651831.cms.
- 154 Council of Khalistan, https://councilofkhalistan.com/.
- 155 Shiromani Akali Dal (Amritsar) America, Inc., https://sadausa.org/.
- 156 US Media International Website, https://www.usmediainternational.live/.
- 157 Khabardar Punjab Website, http://www.khabardarpunjab.tv/watch-live-tv/.

- 158 Kashmir Khalistan Referendum Front (KKRF), Charity Navigator, https://www.charitynavigator.org/ein/842998342.
- 159 "Interview with Dr.Amarjit Singh (Khalistan Affairs Center) & Gurpatwant Singh Pannun (Sikhs For Justice)," Facebook Post, TV84, November 30, 2014.
- 160 2019 Tax Return, Form 990, Global Affairs Sikh Media Inc. ProPublica. https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/display_990/815468856/04_2021_prefixes_81-82% 2F815468856_201912_990_2021040517883053.
- 161 Global Sikh Media and TV84 Website. https://www.tv84.tv/.
- 162 "Sikh-Muslim Togetherness Whose Agenda to Provoke Sikhs Against Muslims & Pakistan ??", YouTube video, TV84, July 24, 2021.
- 163 "Kashmir: Rise in number of Martyrs, However, Blockades to remember them | TV84 Report," YouTube Video, TV84, July 14, 2021.
- 164 "embassyofkhalistan.us," Who.is, May 19, 2021, https://who.is/whois/embassyofkhalistan.us.
- 165 "Contact Us," Embassy of Khalistan, http://www.embassyofkhalistan.us/contact.
- 166 Khalistan Food for All, https://khalistanfoodforall.charity/.
- 167 "Pakistani Islamism Flourishes in America," National Review, January 24, 2018, https://www.nationalreview.com/2018/01/pa-kistani-terror-groups-charitable-guises-us-funds/.
- 168 "Donations from USA," Khalsa Aid International, https://www.khalsaaid.org/donate-usa.
- 169 Activities of Babbar Khalsa International, National Investigation Agency, Government of India, August 28, 2012, https://web. archive.org/web/2018122123055/; "Babbar Khalsa International: Incidents and Statements Involving Babbar Khalsa International: 2017, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2005-2012," South Asia Terrorism Portal, 2001, https://www.satp.org/satporgtp/countries/india/states/punjab/terrorist_outfits/bki.htm.
- 170 Gay, https://eastbayexpress.com/singh-vs-singh-1/.
- 171 Sikh youth of America, https://www.facebook.com/Sikh-youth-of-America-191517344226977/.
- 172 Gay, "https://eastbayexpress.com/singh-vs-singh-1/.
- 173 The Un-Ending War: From Proxy War to Info War Against India, DisinfoLab, February 2021, https://thedisinfolab.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/THE-UN-ENDING-WAR-From-Proxy-War-to-Info-War-against-India.pdf.
- 174 "The Un-Ending War," https://thedisinfolab.org/wp-content/up-loads/2021/02/THE-UN-ENDING-WAR-From-Proxy-War-to-Info-War-against-India.pdf.

- 175 "The Un-Ending War," https://thedisinfolab.org/wp-content/up-loads/2021/02/THE-UN-ENDING-WAR-From-Proxy-War-to-Info-War-against-India.pdf.
- 176 Gay," https://eastbayexpress.com/singh-vs-singh-1/.
- 177 Bureau of Counterterrorism, "Terrorist Designations and State Sponsors of Terrorism" (Executive Order 13224, US Department of State, September 23, 2001), https://www.state.gov/executive-order-13224/.
- 178 Gay, https://eastbayexpress.com/singh-vs-singh-1/.
- 179 Sikh youth of America, https://www.facebook.com/Sikh-youth-of-America-191517344226977/.
- 180 Shaurya Gurung, "Banned Sikh bodies, militants active abroad: Intel," The Tribune, June 19, 2015, https://www.tribuneindia. com/news/archive/punjab/banned-sikh-bodies-militants-active-abroad-intel-95672.
- 181 TV84, https://www.facebook.com/tv84tv.
- 182 Aziz Haniffa, "Khalistani links cloud new Sikh-American Congressional caucus," *Rediff*, April 25, 2013, https://www.rediff.com/news/report/khalistani-links-cloud-new-sikh-american-congressional-caucus/20130425.htm.
- 183 Haniffa, https://www.rediff.com/news/report/khalistani-links-cloud-new-sikh-american-congressional-caucus/20130425.htm.
- 184 Haniffa, https://www.rediff.com/news/report/khalistani-links-cloud-new-sikh-american-congressional-caucus/20130425.htm.
- 185 Press Trust of India, "Group of Sikhs protest outside UN head-quarters on Republic Day," *India.com*, January 27, 2017, https://www.india.com/news/world/group-of-sikhs-protest-outside-unheadquarters-on-republic-day-1787679/.
- 186 "After Canada, Indian officials banned from entering 96 gurudwaras in US," *Times Now News*, January 10, 2018, https://www.timesnownews.com/india/article/gurudwaras-sikhs-united-states-canada-united-kingdom-sikh-coordination-committee-east-coast-american-gurdwara-parbandhak-committee-sri-harmandar-sahib/186858.
- 187 "Extremism Update: July 2020," Khalistan Extremism Monitor, Institute of Conflict Management, https://www.khalistanextremismmonitor.org/globalupdate?url=USA&pageindia=6&pagesize=50.
- 188 Press Trust of India, "Group of Sikhs protest outside UN headquarters on Republic Day," *India.com*, January 27, 2017, https:// www.india.com/news/world/group-of-sikhs-protest-outside-unheadquarters-on-republic-day-1787679/.
- 189 "Martyrdom of Bhai Beant Singh & Satwant Singh," Sikh Cultural Society Gurdwara (Richmond Hill, November 1, 2020), https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KjVRt8kD37E.
- 190 "Khalistan Declaration Day Commemoration," Sikh Cultural

- Society (New York, April 30, 2021), https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=15KZ1 BVk4Q.
- 191 "Sikh Flag Hosted at City Hall of Holyoke (USA) on Khalistan Declaration Day: WSP," Sikh Siyasat Bureau, April 30, 2020, https://sikhsiyasat.net/sikh-flag-hosted-at-city-hall-of-holyoke-usa-on-khalistan-declaration-day-wsp/.
- 192 "Sikh Coordination Committee in USA boycott Indian politicians in protest against arrests of Sikh Youth under UAPA," *Punjab News Express*, July 11, 2020, https://www.punjabnewsexpress.com/punjab/news/sikh-coordination-committee-in-usa-boycott-indian-politicians-in-protest-against-arrests-of-sikh-youth-under-uapa-114393.
- 193 "International Sikh Organization Inc.," Internal Revenue Service, https://tinyurl.com/ashwbz5v.
- 194 Bakhshish S. Sandhu, https://twitter.com/s bakhshish.
- 195 "World Sikh Parliament Councils," World Sikh Parliament, March 14, 2018, http://worldsikhsparliament.com/services/support/.
- 196 "Our Model for Governance: Sarbat Khalsa," Free Akal Takht, https://www.freeakaltakht.org/governance.
- 197 Harinder Singh, "How Sikhs Can Free Akal Takht," Sikh Research Institute, April 14, 2016, https://sikhri.org/articles/how-sikhs-canfree-akal-takht.
- 198 Sarbat Khalsa USA (website), https://web.archive.org/web/20170606174243/http://sarbatkhalsausa.com/.
- 199 Anju Kaur, "Akaal Takhat Forms Committee to Represent US Sikhs," SikhNN, September 11, 2013.
- 200 "Thousands of Sikh Americans Converge on Bay Area to Protest with Indian Farmers," Sikh Coalition, December 5, 2020, https://

- www.sikhcoalition.org/press-release/thousands-sikh-americans-converge-bay-area-protest-indian-farmers/.
- 201 Organization for Minorities of India, https://www.facebook.com/ minoritiesofindia.
- 202 Manveet Thind, "The Politicization of College Sikh Youth on California Campuses by Sikh Organizations," UCI History Journal (2020), https://cpb-us-e2.wpmucdn.com/sites.uci.edu/dist/a/4170/files/2020/06/FINAL-UCI-History-Journal-draft_Thind.pdf.
- 203 Prema Kurien, "Shifting US Racial and Ethnic Identities and Sikh American Activism," *The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences* 4, no. 5 (August 2018): 81-98, https://www.rsfjournal.org/content/4/5/81.
- 204 "2019 Sikh Youth Symposium," Sikh Youth Alliance of North America, December 2018, https://sikhyouthalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Group-5-Questions-2019-Sikh-Youth-Symposium.pdf.
- 205 2019 Tax Return, Form 990, Global Affairs Sikh Media Inc., ProPublica. https://projects.propublica.org/nonprofits/display_990/815468856/04_2021_prefixes_81-82% 2F815468856_201912_990_2021040517883053.
- 206 Activities of Babbar Khalsa International, https://web.archive.org/web/2018122123055/.
- 207 IRS 990 Filings, Registry of Open Data on AWS, https://registry.opendata.aws/irs990/.
- 208 Bureau of Counterterrorism, "Terrorist Designations and State Sponsors of Terrorism," https://www.state.gov/executive-order-13224/.

Notes			
,			

Notes	